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COURT (CHAMBER)
CASE OF RINGEISEN v. AUSTRIA (MERITS)
(Application no 2614/65)
JUDGMENT
STRASBOURG

16 July 1971
In the Ringeisen case,

The European Court of Human Rights, sitting, in accordance with Article 43 (art. 43) of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (hereinafter referred to as "the Convention") and with Rules 21 and 22 of the Rules of Court, as a Chamber composed of the following Judges:


MM. 
H. ROLIN, President,


Å. HOLMBÄCK

A. VERDROSS

T. WOLD

M. ZEKIA

A. FAVRE

S. SIGURJÓNSSON
and also MM. M.-A. EISSEN, Registrar, and J.F. SMYTH, Deputy Registrar,

Decides as follows:

PROCEDURE

1. The Ringeisen case was referred to the Court by the European Commission of Human Rights (hereinafter called "the Commission"). The case has its origin in an application against the Republic of Austria submitted to the Commission on 3rd July 1965 under Article 25 (art. 25) of the Convention by an Austrian national, Michael Ringeisen.

2. The Commission’s request, to which was attached the report provided for in Article 31 (art. 31) of the Convention, was lodged with the Registry of the Court on 24th July 1970, within the period of three months laid down in Articles 32 (1) and 47 (art. 32-1, art. 47). Reference was made in the request to Articles 44 and 48 (art. 44, art. 48) and to the declaration made by the Republic of Austria recognising the compulsory jurisdiction of the Court (Article 46) (art. 46). The purpose of the Commission’s request is to obtain a decision from the Court as to whether the facts of the case do or do not disclose, on the part of the Republic of Austria, a violation of the obligations binding on it under Articles 5, paragraph (3) and 6, paragraph (1) (art. 5-3, art. 6-1), of the Convention.

3. On 22nd August 1970, the President of the Court drew by lot, in the presence of the Registrar, the names of six of the seven Judges called upon to sit as members of the Chamber, Mr. Alfred Verdross, the elected Judge of Austrian nationality, being an ex officio member under Article 43 (art. 43) of the Convention; the President also drew by lot the names of three substitute Judges.

4. The President of the Chamber, after ascertaining the views of the Agent of the Austrian Government (hereinafter called "the Government") and the Delegates of the Commission regarding the procedure to be followed (Rule 35 (1)) and taking note of their agreement, decided on 2nd October 1970 that it was not necessary at that stage for memorials to be lodged.

On the instructions of the President, the Registrar requested, on 30th October 1970, the Agent of the Government to produce certain documents which were filed on December 3rd.

5. The Court held a preparatory meeting in Strasbourg on 23rd and 24th November 1970, following which a request for further information and for the production of supplementary documents was addressed to the Government and the Commission. The Commission’s reply was received on 5th December 1970 and the Government made its reply and filed further documents on 10th and 17th February and on 4th and 6th March 1971.

6. After having consulted, through the Registrar, the Agent of the Government and the Delegates of the Commission, the President decided, by an Order of 17th December 1970, that the oral hearings should open on 8th March 1971.

7. The Court authorised the Agent and Counsel of the Government to address the Court in German at the oral hearings, the Government undertaking inter alia, responsibility for the interpretation into French or English of their pleadings and statements (Rule 27 (2)).

8. The oral hearings were held in public at the Human Rights Building at Strasbourg on 8th, 9th and 10th March 1971.

There appeared before the Court:

- for the Commission:


Mr. J.E.S. FAWCETT, 
    Principal Delegate,


Mr. F. ERMACORA and Mr. G. SPERDUTI, 
     Delegates;

- for the Government:


Mr. E. NETTEL, Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Plenipotentiary,





Agent;


Mr. W. PAHR, Head of the International Division



in the Constitutional Department of the Federal 





Chancellery, and

Mr. C. MAYERHOFER, Ministerialsekretär



at the Federal Ministry of Justice, 
Counsel.

The Court heard the addresses and submissions of these representatives and also their replies to a number of questions put to them. Furthermore, the Government produced some complementary documents.

The hearings were closed provisionally on 10th March 1971.

9. Two further documents were filed by the Commission on 22nd March 1971 and observations on them were received by the Registry from the Government on April 16th.

10. After having made final the closure of the proceedings and deliberated in private, the Court gives the present judgment.

THE FACTS

11. The facts of the case, as they appear from the report of the Commission, the documents produced and the addresses of the representatives made before the Court, may be summarised as follows:

I. RINGEISEN’S DEALINGS
12. Mr. Michael Ringeisen is an Austrian citizen, born in Hungary in 1921. During the years 1958 to 1963, he was in business as an insurance agent in Linz, Austria; he also negotiated loans and dealt in real estate.

13. Sometime in 1958, Mr. Franz Widmann, a shopkeeper at Linz, answered a newspaper advertisement seeking a loan of 100,000 Austrian Schillings (AS). In this way he came into contact with Ringeisen to whom he advanced, in November 1958 and January 1959, 150,000 AS in several instalments. At the time of this transaction, Ringeisen mentioned to Widmann that he needed this money for a Mr. Wenger but Widmann did not meet him. At Ringeisen’s instigation, a contract was signed in 1959 naming the couple Widmann as creditors and the couple Wenger, amongst others, as debtors. Subsequently, Ringeisen repaid 72,000 AS to Widmann. Also in 1959 and 1960, Ringeisen negotiated in the name of Mrs. Gertrud Wenger a loan of 11,000 AS from one Rudolf Schamberger.

14. On 9th May and 6th November 1961, Ringeisen obtained general powers of attorney from the Roth couple with whom he had previously had business relations. These powers of attorney were granted in consideration of a loan made by Ringeisen to the Roth couple and enabled him to act in their name in dividing up and selling, leasing and encumbering land which they owned at Alkoven and was entered in the Annaberg Land Register, Upper Austria. As part of the same transaction Ringeisen was given an option to purchase the property; at the same time the Roth couple undertook that, in the event of Ringeisen exercising the option and of approval of the transfer of ownership to him being refused by the competent administrative body, they would not sell the property to anyone else, would refrain from acting as owners, and would grant Ringeisen the right of exclusive occupation (letters of 3rd, 14th and 16th November 1961).

15. On 6th February 1962, Ringeisen made a contract with Mr. and Mrs. Roth for the purchase of the property; the purchase price was 400,000 AS. The contract for sale was submitted on 30th March 1962 to the Eferding District Real Property Transactions Commission (Bezirksgrundverkehrskommission, hereinafter referred to as the "District Commission") for approval.

The Upper Austrian Real Property Transactions Act (Grundverkehrsgesetz) provides as follows:

"Section 1
- (1) Every transfer of ownership and granting of usufructuary rights by legal act inter vivos in respect of a piece of land wholly or partly given over to agriculture or forestry is subject to approval according to the provisions of this Act.

 .....

(2) Refusal of such approval renders the transaction null and void.

 .....

Section 4
- (1) Legal transactions must correspond to the public interests in creating and maintaining agricultural or forest areas and in maintaining and reinforcing a productive farming community or in maintaining and creating economic small or medium-sized agricultural properties.

 .....

(5) Transactions which do not satisfy the requirements of sub-sections (1), (2) or (3) above, shall not be approved.

 .....

Section 6
- In particular, the requirements for approval of a transaction (Section 4) shall not be satisfied where there is reason to fear

(a) that the purpose of the purchaser is to resell the land as a whole or in lots for profit;

(b) that peasant farm holdings or small agricultural businesses or economically substantial parts thereof are being acquired to create or enlarge great estates;

 .....

(d) that estates are to be ... diverted from their use as farmland or forest for no adequate reason;

(e) that only a speculative capital investment is envisaged;

 .....

Section 7
- If a legal transaction requires approval under the provisions of this Act, the contracting parties shall apply for approval to the District ... Commission within four weeks of concluding the transaction."

16. The District Commission refused, on 28th September 1962, to approve the contract for sale. It found that the property could provide a farming family with a livelihood and that Ringeisen was an insurance agent and not a farmer. Referring to applications which Ringeisen had made for the approval of the purchase by him from the Roth couple of other properties and which had been refused, the District Commission considered that the files revealed clearly a picture of speculation in land. It also observed that Ringeisen had already marked out thirty-four plots for building. In conclusion, the District Commission remarked that, while fear of certain intentions on the part of a purchaser was sufficient under Section 6 of the Act for refusal of approval, the fact that in this case there was clearevidence that such intentions existed must carry even more weight.

17. In January 1962, Ringeisen had begun to sell part of the property in building sites; he continued to do this throughout 1962 and up to April 1963. After having obtained an expert opinion from the Provincial Planning Office (Landesplanungsstelle) on the basis of which he had the property surveyed and marked out, he was granted permission to build on the property by the Eferding District Administration (Bezirkshauptmannschaft) on 17th November 1962. These two bodies operate independently of the District Commission and their opinion or permission has no bearing on its decision: on the contrary, it is given expressly subject to the decision of the District Commission.

18. Ringeisen, it appears, has failed to inform prospective purchasers that he was acting under a power of attorney he held from the Roth couple and if any of them remarked that Ringeisen was not himself the vendor it was explained that the transaction was being effected in this way for taxation purposes. The purchasers were informed at the time by Ringeisen that permission had been obtained for building and were assured that work could begin at once. The purchase contracts drawn up by Ringeisen’s lawyer included a clause stating that the Real Property Transactions Commission’s approval was necessary to implement them, but Ringeisen had informed the purchasers that this was a mere formality. The last twenty or so purchase contracts were not concluded through the same lawyer and did not contain that particular clause. In all cases the purchase price was payable immediately.

In June 1962, the Roth couple purported to withdraw the powers of attorney from Ringeisen. He disputed their claim and a final decision ordering him to deposit the powers of attorney with the court was taken on 13th September 1963.

19. Ringeisen appealed to the Regional Real Property Transactions Commission (Landesgrundverkehrskommission, hereinafter referred to as the "Regional Commission") against the District Commission’s refusal to approve the contract for sale he had made with Mr. and Mrs. Roth.

The relevant provisions of the Upper Austrian Real Property Transactions Act are:

"Section 18

 .....

(2) A Regional ... Commission shall be set up in the office of the Provincial Government for decisions in last instance. Its members shall not be bound by any instructions in the exercise of their duties and their decisions shall not be subject to repeal or alteration by the administration.

 .....

(4) The Regional ... Commission shall consist of eight members, namely

(a) a judge appointed by the Provincial Government as president;

(b) one member appointed by the Head of the Provincial Government in his capacity as President of the Regional Agrarian Senate (Landesagrarsenat);

(c) two members appointed by the Provincial Government from the persons representing the interests of townspeople and residents in housing estates;

(d) one member appointed by the Provincial Government from the representatives of industry and commerce;

(e) one agricultural expert appointed by the Provincial Government;

(f) two members appointed by the Chamber of Agriculture (Landwirtschaftskammer) for Upper Austria.

 .....

(8) Members are appointed for a term of five years ...

 .....

Section 20

 .....

(2) Appeal against the decision of the District ... Commission may be made to the Regional ... Commission.

 .....

Section 21

 .....

(2) The Real Property Transactions Commissions shall take their decisions by majority votes and in private. ... No information about the contents of deliberations, and in particular the voting, shall be divulged to a third party.

 ..... ."

20. The Regional Commission met on 12th February 1963 and decided to inspect the property which it did on 2nd April, on which date it also held an oral hearing. On 13th May 1963, the Regional Commission dismissed Ringeisen’s appeal; it found that Ringeisen had made contradictory statements concerning his intended use of the property that he had divided up and had sold - in all about fifty building plots - land which was farmland of good quality. For this and various other reasons, it was to be feared that he would withdraw land from agricultural use on a large scale without adequate reason and that he intended to make a speculative capital investment (Section 6 (d) and (e) of the Upper Austrian Real Property Transactions Act).

21. On 5th July 1963, Ringeisen made an appeal (Verfassungsbeschwerde) to the Constitutional Court (Verfassungsgerichtshof) against the decision of the Regional Commission; he alleged violation of the rights of all citizens to equality before the law and to have proceedings held before the judge established by law (gesetzlicher Richter - Articles 7, No. 1 and 83, No. 2 of the Constitution). In the appeal it was alleged, inter alia, that at the meeting of the Regional Commission on 13th May 1963, two members took part and voted who had not been present at one or both of the previous meetings at which the Regional Commission had examined the appeal.

The Constitutional Court gave its decision on 20th June 1964. Following its own precedents dealing with the question of the proper legal composition of a board (Kollegialbehörde) within the meaning of Article 133, No. 4, of the Constitution, it found that the circumstances complained of by the appellant had led to a violation of the right to have proceedings held before a judge established by law. It accordingly set aside the decision of the Regional Commission.

22. As a result of this judgment, the Regional Commission had to make a new decision on Ringeisen’s appeal against the District Commission’s decision of 28th September 1962.

At the opening of the new proceedings, Ringeisen challenged several members of the Regional Commission on the grounds of bias: he pointed out that the president had represented the Regional Commission in 1964 before the Constitutional Court; two members had been heard as witnesses in those proceedings and one of them, Mr. T., was alleged to have stated that a different contract for the sale of the same property had already been approved; a third member, appointed by the Upper Austrian Chamber of Agriculture, was said to have already pronounced himself against the approval of the contract for sale of 6th February 1962; lastly, a fourth and a fifth member had taken part in the decision of 13th May 1963 which the Constitutional Court had set aside on 20th June 1964. In support of his challenge, Ringeisen relied on Section 7 of the 1950 General Administrative Procedure Act (Allgemeines Verwaltungsverfahrensgesetz) which provides in sub-section 1 as follows:

"(1) Administrative official (Verwaltungsorgane) shall refrain from performing their duties and shall delegate their functions:

 .....

(iii) In cases in which they have been or are appointed as the agents of a party;

(iv) When there are other serious grounds giving rise to doubt as to their complete impartiality;

 ..... ."

The Regional Commission took its decision on 3rd February 1965.

It first observed that although Ringeisen was not entitled in law to a right of challenge under the aforementioned Act, his allegations of bias should nevertheless be examined ex officio. These allegations proved, however, to be unfounded. In its decision, which dealt at length with the allegations made, the Regional Commission found, in particular, that the approval which Mr. T. had mentioned concerned in fact the sale of different property owned by the Roth couple.

Ringeisen’s appeal was also refused by the Regional Commission. In the light of enquiries it had caused to be made, it found that, in all, two hundred and nine building sites had been marked out on the properties in question; that Ringeisen had already concluded contracts for the sale of seventy-eight building plots and that approval of thirty-three of these contracts had been definitively refused by the Real Property Transactions authorities; that Ringeisen had encumbered the different properties with charges for substantial amounts of money and that he had made contradictory statements in his different applications for approval. The Regional Commission held that Ringeisen’s plans were incompatible with the principles enunciated in Section 4 (1) of the Upper Austrian Real Property Transactions Act as it was to be feared that more than half of the various properties in question were to be sold for building. The contract for sale of 6th February 1962 was therefore found to be designed to destroy and break up a farm which had up till then been a workable unit, to bring about the abandonment of farm buildings and to effect a resale of valuable agricultural land for profit (Section 6 of the Upper Austrian Real Property Transactions Act).

23. Ringeisen made an appeal on 2nd April 1965 to the Constitutional Court against this decision. Among other grounds, he reiterated the charges of bias he had made against six members, including the president, of the Regional Commission (paragraph 22 above).

The Constitutional Court rejected the ground of appeal on 27th September 1965:

"It has not been necessary for the Court to deal with the allegations in the appeal to the extent that they attempt to show that the challenged members of the Commission were biased within the meaning of Article 7 of the General Administrative Procedure Act and ought therefore to have refrained from acting since, even if these allegations were correct on this point, the applicant was not affected in his right to be judged by the judge established by law by the refusal of his challenges. For a party has no right to challenge a body competent to decide or take part in the making of the decision on the grounds of bias. A board does not cease to be competent because a biased member takes part in the proceedings. Nor does the participation of a biased member - unless a special law expressly provides otherwise - affect the proper composition of a board any more than the competence or proper composition of an authority consisting of a single person (monokratische Behörde) is called in question through the bias of the regularly appointed office holder (Organwalter). It was therefore not necessary to go into the question whether bias actually existed as alleged (see to the same effect earlier decisions of the Constitutional Court of 9th October 1958, Slg. Nr. 3408, 6th October 1959, Slg. Nr. 3588, and 19th November 1960, Slg. Nr. 3829)."

The other grounds of appeal were also rejected in the same judgment.

II. THE PROSECUTIONS OF RINGEISEN
A. The fraud case (19 Vr. 394/63)

24. On dates which the documents before the Court do not disclose, F. Widmann and R. Schamberger laid charges of fraud against Ringeisen.

25. On 13th February 1963, Mr. and Mrs. Roth laid charges with the public prosecutor’s office at Linz against Ringeisen for abuse of the power of attorney given to him and for unlawfully encumbering and selling their property. On 21st February, the public prosecutor’s office requested that preliminary inquiries (Vorerhebungen) be instituted against Ringeisen.

On 28th February, Ringeisen appeared for the first time before the investigating judge and was interrogated.

26. In March, June and July 1963, further complaints were made by Mr. and Mrs. Roth to the prosecuting authorities that Ringeisen continued to misuse the powers they had delegated to him. In the light of the Regional Commission’s decision of 13th May 1963 (paragraph 20 above), the prosecuting authority at Linz made an application to the Linz Regional Court (Landesgericht) on 16th July 1963 that a preliminary investigation (Voruntersuchung) should be instituted against Ringeisen on the ground that he was suspected of having committed offences under Articles 197 and 205c of the Criminal Code. On 19th July, the public prosecutor’s office further requested that the documents authorising Ringeisen to act on behalf of the Roth couple should be taken away from him and kept in safe custody, or, if this should not prove possible, that Ringeisen should be detained on remand for danger of committing further offences (paragraph 57 below). On 25th July, the authorities were informed that the Roth couple had obtained a decision from the civil court that Ringeisen should return the said documents.

27. One day later, the prosecuting authorities were informed by Dr. Kehrer, a lawyer acting on behalf of ten purchasers of plots that the applicant had converted to his own use the purchase monies they had paid without being in a position to transfer to them the title of the properties purchased.

Acting on this information, the public prosecutor’s office applied for an extension of the preliminary investigation. On 6th August 1963, the day after his arrest (paragraph 57 below), Ringeisen appeared before the investigating judge and was heard on the charges made against him. On 16th August, Mr. and Mrs. Roth made a statement in which they denied that investments which Ringeisen claimed to have made in their property had increased its value; they also alleged that Ringeisen had harvested and sold the fruit and crops for his own benefit.

28. Criminal charges were made by Dr. Kehrer on 27th August 1963 on behalf of nine further complainants: it was alleged that Ringeisen had published a new advertisement for the sale of building plots on 20th July and one of the complainants intimated that a copy made by Ringeisen of the Roths’ power of attorney was being produced. The police drew up a report which was submitted to the Linz Regional Court on 30th August. Ringeisen was released from custody on 23rd December 1963 (paragraph 58 below).

29. Between 18th September 1963 and 6th April 1964, twenty-eight further charges and supplementary information were laid by other purchasers of building plots and by the Roth couple. In the same period, the investigating judge held twenty-three hearings at which Ringeisen or witnesses were examined, directed that comprehensive enquiries be made and ordered the extension of the preliminary investigation to cover the new complaints. The investigating judge closed the preliminary investigation on 8th April 1964.

30. On 5th May 1964, Ringeisen lodged with the Federal Ministry of Justice a disciplinary complaint (Aufsichtsbeschwerde) against the authorities and courts at Linz who were dealing with his case. Upon his request, the applicant’s counsel was given the case-files from 6th to 12th May. The case-files were also unavailable between 25th June and 6th July 1964 because of proceedings in the Civil Division of the Linz Regional Court.

31. The public prosecutor dealing with the case was absent on leave from 27th July to 24th August 1964. On 1st August, Ringeisen lodged with the public prosecutor’s office an application for transfer of his case to another court area and challenging judges (Delegierungs- und Ablehnungsantrag). On 25th August, the public prosecutor’s office transmitted this application to the court with unfavourable comment.

The case-files were transmitted on 1st September 1964 for decision on the application to the Supreme Court (Oberster Gerichtshof) which refused it on September 16th.

In the meantime, an investigating judge at the Linz Regional Court had made an order on 31st August 1964 that these fraud proceedings (19 Vr. 394/63) were to be conducted separately from other investigations of charges of fraudulent bankruptcy (19 Vr. 1566/64, paragraph 49 below), which had been made on 24th August 1964.

32. In accordance with Article 112 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, the case-files were forwarded to the public prosecutor’s office on 12th October 1964. Under that provision, the public prosecutor’s office should, within a period of two weeks, file the indictment or inform the investigating judge that it does not intend to pursue the prosecution; it may also apply to have the preliminary investigation extended. On 4th January 1965, the public prosecution applied for an extension of the preliminary investigation to cover a new complaint laid on 31st December 1964 by Dr. Kehrer on behalf of another purchaser. On the same day, the files were sent, in connection with other proceedings, to the Vienna District Court (Bezirksgericht) and then, on January 19th, to the Wels Labour Court (Arbeitsgericht); they were returned to Linz on 3rd February. Two days later the investigating judge examined six witnesses.

33. Ringeisen was summoned to appear before the investigating judge on 8th February 1965 but arrived late and excused himself; his examination then took place on 16th February.

On 18th February, he was allowed to inspect the case-files and make photostat copies.

34. On 20th February 1965, a supplementary complaint was made by the lawyer, Dr. Kehrer, and the public prosecutor’s office applied, on February 25th, for an extension of the preliminary investigation to include this complaint. The investigating judge decided, on 2nd March 1965, to extend the preliminary investigation to include the supplementary complaints made since 31st December 1964.

35. On 15th March 1965, Ringeisen deposited with the Linz Regional Court a decision of the Linz District Court dated 23rd February and relating to the entry of a charge on his property (paragraph 60 below); while he was at the court he was, however, arrested in connection with the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings, No. 19 Vr. 1566/64 (paragraph 61 below).

36. The indictment (Anklageschrift) was filed with the Linz Regional Court on 27th April 1965 and notified to Ringeisen on April 30th. It charged him with the offences of aggravated fraud (Betrug, Articles 197, 200, 201 (d) and 203 of the Criminal Code) and of aggravated fraudulent conversion (Untreue, Article 205c of the same Code).

He was accused of:

I. Having falsely pretended, between 3rd November 1958 and 5th April 1963, to be an honest real estate seller, borrower and agent with a view to induce:

A. 78 persons to acts detrimental to them, namely to make payments of some 1,400,000 AS. It was alleged that Ringeisen had concealed from them the fact that the contracts for sale which he made with them could be implemented only with the approval of the Real Property Transactions Commission; Ringeisen had only submitted thirteen of these contracts to the Real Property Transactions Commission a year after making them and a further twenty-one after more than one year; in the end, his contracts for sale no longer included a clause stating that such approval was required for their implementation. It was also alleged that Ringeisen had received 1,359,000 AS from his business of "killing" real estates (gewerbsmässige Güterschlächterei) and that he refused to repay the money;

B. two other persons, (1) Franz Widmann and (2) Rudolf Schamberger, to grant loans of which a large part had not been repaid (paragraph 13 above);

II. Having misused, with intent to profit, the power of attorney which had been given to him by the Roth couple on 9th May 1961 and revoked by them as of 22nd August 1962, by encumbering their land at Alkoven with various charges after this last date.

37. On 3rd May 1965, Ringeisen lodged an objection (Einspruch) with the Court of Appeal (Oberlandesgericht) against the indictment. He alleged in particular that he had no intention of causing loss to the purchasers of sites and that he had invested more than 2,000,000 AS in the property. In the same document, he also requested the transfer of all civil and criminal proceedings to courts outside the jurisdiction of the Linz Court of Appeal: he alleged that it was absolutely impossible to find at Linz a really impartial and objective judge who was not prejudiced against him on account of either having taken part in the work of the Real Property Transactions Commissions or having been concerned with litigation arising out of his dealings with the property.

The public prosecutor’s office opposed these applications the following day.

38. On 19th May 1965, the Linz Court of Appeal dismissed Ringeisen’s objection against the indictment for the reason that the results of the investigation sufficed to ground the suspicion that he had committed the offences of which he was charged.

The case-files were transmitted to the Linz Regional Court on 25th May. On 8th June, Ringeisen appeared in court and was heard; he withdrew various complaints he had made and maintained only his application for transfer. In consequence, the case-files were submitted on 11th June to the Supreme Court which refused the application on July 8th.

39. On 3rd August 1965, Ringeisen made a challenge before the Court of Appeal against all the judges at the Linz Regional Court. The Court of Appeal ordered him to specify the grounds for the challenge which, however, he withdrew on 6th September 1965 except as regards the investigating judge who had ordered his arrest in the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings on 15th March 1965; he also entered a further general application for transfer. The challenge was rejected by the President of the Linz Regional Court on 13th September and the Court of Appeal ruled, on 27th September, that there was no jurisdiction to hear an appeal on this point.

The application for transfer was transmitted on 24th September to the Supreme Court which refused it on October 27th.

40. Ringeisen was notified on 3rd November 1965 that the trial would open on December 13th. On 4th December, he made various applications for transfer and to have the trial cancelled. On 6th December, the presiding judge at the Linz Regional Court informed him that, as the Supreme Court had already refused two earlier applications for transfer, his further applications of 4th December would not be entertained and there was no reason to cancel the trial.

The trial opened on 13th December and, on 16th December, was adjourned to 13th January 1966 on the application of both the prosecution and the defence in order to have further evidence taken. Two experts were nominated by the court on 20th December to evaluate the amount of money which Ringeisen had invested in the property.
On 7th January 1966, Ringeisen made an application to the effect that a plea of nullity for safeguarding the law (Nichtigkeitsbeschwerde zur Wahrung des Gesetzes) should be entered on his behalf by the Attorney General (Generalprokurator). However, on 10th January he was informed by the presiding judge that, in view of the hearing beginning on 13th January, the files could only be submitted thereafter to the Attorney General’s office; similarly, new applications for a transfer which the applicant had intended to make could not be submitted to the competent authority for the time being as this would delay proceedings.

41. The trial was resumed on 13th January 1966 and ended the following day.

Ringeisen was found guilty of aggravated fraud on the counts concerning the 78 purchasers and Franz Widmann (IA and IB (1) of the indictment). He was acquitted of the other charges (IB (2), R. Schamberger and II, the Roth couple). He was sentenced to three years’ severe imprisonment (schwerer Kerker) with the additional punishment of fasting and "sleeping hard" (hartes Lager) once every three months. In fixing sentence, the Regional Court took account of aggravating and of extenuating factors: on the one hand, the purchasers of the building plots were poor persons who had lost their savings or borrowed money to pay Ringeisen, the criminal conduct of Ringeisen had continued over a long period, the damage caused greatly exceeded the amount of 15,000 AS fixed in Article 203 of the Criminal Code; on the other hand, Ringeisen’s previous record was unblemished, some purchasers had not sustained loss and the damage would be made good in part from payment out of the Roth couple’s bankruptcy. The court found, in Ringeisen’s favour, that there were circumstances for "special mitigation" (ausserordentliches Milderungsrecht) as provided for in Article 265a of the Code of Criminal Procedure. In accordance with Article 55a of the Criminal Code, the court reckoned as part of the sentence the time which Ringeisen had spent in custody on remand (from 5th August to 23rd December 1963 and from 15th March 1965 to 14th January 1966, paragraphs 59 and 77 below).

Immediately after the delivery of judgment, Ringeisen gave notice of his intention to enter a plea of nullity (Nichtigkeitsbeschwerde) and an appeal (Berufung) against his conviction and sentence; the public prosecutor gave notice that he would enter a plea of nullity in respect of the acquittal and an appeal against the sentence as being too lenient.

42. The public prosecution lodged, on 25th February 1966, a plea of nullity and an appeal. Ringeisen’s plea of nullity and appeal were lodged on March 3rd.

The case-files were forwarded on 9th March to the Supreme Court which fixed a hearing for 14th July 1966. On 27th June 1966, the Supreme Court dismissed an application by Ringeisen to have witnesses examined and for leave to be present at the hearing.

43. The pleas of nullity and the appeals were heard on 14th July 1966 by the Supreme Court which gave judgment on July 27th.

The Supreme Court set aside the decision of 14th January 1966 and referred the case back to the Regional Court for rehearing as regards the conviction for fraud under IB (1) (F. Widmann), the acquittal on the charge of fraudulent conversion under II (the Roth couple) and the sentence. The Regional Court’s decision was upheld as regards the conviction for fraud under count IA (78 purchasers) and the acquittal on the charge of fraud under count IB (2) (R. Schamberger).

The judgment was drawn up and transmitted to the Linz Regional Court on 29th August 1966. On September 2nd, the case was referred to a different chamber of the Regional Court.

44. On application made by the prosecution on 9th September 1966 (Article 34, paragraph 2, first sub-paragraph, of the Code of Criminal Procedure), the Linz Regional Court decided, on September 14th, that the proceedings on the charges of fraud under count IB (1) (F. Widmann) and of fraudulent conversion under count II (the Roth couple) should be discontinued. Consequently, the only matter left outstanding was a decision on the sentence for the conviction of fraud under count IA (78 purchasers). Ringeisen was given notice that the further hearing before the Regional Court would be held on October 18th.

45. On 29th September 1966 and the days which followed, Ringeisen made numerous applications for transfer, joinder of the case to other criminal proceedings, review (Wiederaufnahme des Strafverfahrens) etc., which were all rejected by the Regional Court on 12th October and by the Court of Appeal on 16th November.

46. The rehearing of the case took place before the Linz Regional Court on 18th October 1966.

In its judgment of the same day, the court first noted that, since the prosecution had also appealed against the sentence imposed on 14th January 1966, the prohibition against passing a more severe sentence (reformatio in pejus) did not apply.

The court took into account certain extenuating circumstances: Ringeisen had no previous convictions, he had made restitution - although to a very small extent - for the loss caused and he affirmed he would do so for the remainder, though the court expressed a reservation about his sworn statement of assets (Offenbarungseid). On the other hand, the court pointed out that there were aggravating factors: the people who had suffered loss were not affluent and this had caused particular hardship, the offences had continued over a considerable period and the damage had been particularly high. Weighing the extenuating and aggravating circumstances against each other, the court concluded that it could not be said that the extenuating circumstances predominated within the meaning of Article 265a of the Code of Criminal Procedure with the result that the punishment had to remain within the limits fixed by Article 203 of the Criminal Code - five to ten years’ severe imprisonment - though it could be fixed at the minimum.

The sentence was therefore fixed at five years’ severe imprisonment with the additional punishment of fasting and "sleeping hard" once every three months. The court reckoned as part of the sentence the time (5th August to 23rd December 1963 and 15th March 1965 to 18th October 1966) Ringeisen had spent in custody on remand. Ringeisen gave notice that he would lodge a plea of nullity and an appeal; he also made an application for transfer.

Ringeisen lodged the plea of nullity and an appeal on 3rd November 1966. The case-files were submitted to the Supreme Court on 24th November but were returned to Linz from 21st February to 23rd March 1967 for the consideration of an application made by Ringeisen for provisional release (paragraph 76 below).

47. Subsequently, Ringeisen laid criminal charges for perversion of justice (Missbrauch der Amtsgewalt) against a presiding judge at the Supreme Court. On 26th June 1967, the Supreme Court was informed by the Vienna public prosecutor’s office that this matter would not be dealt with for the time being and on 30th June the Supreme Court fixed 5th October 1967 as the date for a hearing on the applicant’s appeal and plea of nullity.

On 29th September 1967, Ringeisen made an application to the Supreme Court challenging the president and other judges of the chamber which was to decide on his appeal and plea of nullity; Ringeisen maintained that a preliminary investigation had been opened against the president before the Regional Court in Vienna for perversion of justice. By decision of 3rd October 1967, the Supreme Court cancelled the hearing fixed for 5th October and referred Ringeisen’s challenge to the competent chamber. Before that chamber could take a decision, the Regional Court of Vienna requested the case-files, on 20th October, in order to take a decision on an application made by Ringeisen that preliminary investigations should be opened against the president of the chamber of the Supreme Court dealing with the case.

On 4th December 1967, the files were returned to the Supreme Court which, on December 19th, rejected the challenge of the judges. Subsequently, a new date for the hearing was fixed for 15th February 1968.

On 8th February 1968, Ringeisen once more challenged the judges of the Supreme Court on the ground that a civil action for damages in the amount of about 50,000,000 AS was pending against the president of the chamber before the Regional Court in Vienna. The Supreme Court refused the challenge on 13th February.

48. On 15th February 1968, the Supreme Court dismissed an application made by Ringeisen to adjourn the hearing fixed for that day on the ground that certain files should be consulted in connection with these proceedings. On the same day, the Supreme Court, in a final judgment, dismissed the plea of nullity but reduced the sentence. In computing the sentence, the Supreme Court held that the reasons for mitigation predominated in substance if not in number and that it was therefore possible to apply Article 265a of the Code of Criminal Procedure; the sentence originally imposed in January 1966 had been appropriate to Ringeisen’s convictions at that time but account should be taken of the fact that the charge of defrauding F. Widmann had been abandoned later on; the sentence was therefore reduced to two years and nine months’ severe imprisonment with the additional punishments ordered by the court of first instance.

On 24th April 1968, the Regional Court decided that the entire time Ringeisen had spent in detention on remand should be reckoned as part of the sentence.

B. The fraudulent bankruptcy case (19 Vr. 1566/64)

49. In August 1964, creditors laid criminal charges against Ringeisen; they accused him of unlawfully attempting to prevent them from obtaining execution of judgments awarded in their favour against him after it had become known that the sales of building sites could not be completed (paragraphs 16 and 20 above) and ordering him to refund the purchase money. On the application of the public prosecutor’s office at Linz, the investigating judge decided, on 31st August 1964, that preliminary investigations should be opened and conducted separately from those relating to the charges of fraud (19 Vr. 394/63) which were for the time being closed pursuant to Article 112 of the Code of Criminal Procedure (paragraph 32 above).

Ringeisen was examined on 3rd September and then on 20th October by the investigating judge who later extended the preliminary investigation to cover further similar complaints made in the latter part of 1964 and early in 1965.

50. On 16th March 1965, the day after Ringeisen’s detention on remand was ordered in these proceedings (paragraph 61 below), he was brought before the investigating judge; he challenged that judge and all the other judges in the jurisdiction of the Linz Court of Appeal. The case-files were transmitted to the Supreme Court which dismissed the challenges on 1st April 1965. Further challenges of judges were refused in May 1965.

51. On the application of two creditors, the Linz District Court appointed, on 23rd March 1965, a receiver (Zwangsverwalter) over property owned by Ringeisen at Linz.

52. On 14th May 1965, Ringeisen was adjudged bankrupt (Eröffnung des Konkurses) by the Linz Regional Court. The principal effects of such a decision are set out in Section 1, sub-sections (1) and (2), of the Bankruptcy Act (Konkursordnung):

"(1) The effect of the commencement of bankruptcy is to remove all assets liable to execution which belong to the bankrupt at the time or which accrue to him during the bankruptcy (the bankrupt’s estate) from his free disposition. ...

(2) The bankrupt’s estate shall be taken in charge and administered in accordance with this Act and shall be employed for the joint satisfaction of those personal creditors who had pecuniary claims against the bankrupt at the commencement of bankruptcy (the bankruptcy creditors).

 ..... ."

In application of Sections 75 to 77 of the same Act, notice of the adjudication was given to a series of authorities at Linz, including various courts, the revenue office, the social security office, the central railway station, the freight station, the Danube navigation company, the post and telegraph office, the Bar association, the chamber of commerce, etc. A notice was put in the local official gazette (Amtliche Linzer-Zeitung). The assignee was appointed by the court on the same day.

53. The indictment was filed on 24th March 1966 with the Regional Court at Linz and notified to Ringeisen on the following day. Ringeisen was accused of having committed fraudulent bankruptcy, defined in Article 205a of the Criminal Code as follows:

"whoever intentionally defeats or curtails the satisfaction of his creditors or some of them by concealing, disposing of, alienating or damaging a part of his assets, by alleging or acknowledging a non-existent liability or in any other way diminishing his assets, shall be punished ...".

It was alleged that Ringeisen, in order to frustrate execution of judgments given against him, had negotiated, in April 1964, a fictitious loan of 200,000 AS from an insurance company for whom he worked as an agent and then consented to a court settlement in favour of the insurance company for the same amount. It was further alleged that before he had been adjudged bankrupt he had used 60,000 AS to satisfy seven creditors who had obtained writs of seizure and had kept the remaining sum of 140,000 AS for himself.

54. Ringeisen was, at his own request, brought before the Linz Regional Court on 4th April 1966; he lodged an objection to the indictment and asked that the Supreme Court or the Vienna Court of Appeal should rule on it on the ground that the courts at Linz were prejudiced against him. By a document dated 22nd April, Ringeisen put forward further grounds in support of the objection.

On 27th June 1966, the Supreme Court rejected, for lack of jurisdiction, Ringeisen’s application that it should rule on the objection to the indictment and as ill-founded the application for transfer. The Linz Court of Appeal dismissed the objection to the indictment on July 6th for the reason that the results of the preliminary investigation grounded the suspicion that Ringeisen had committed the offence of which he was accused.

55. On 15th August 1966 and 8th February 1967, the Linz Regional Court rejected as inadmissible two applications made by Ringeisen for review of the proceedings. A further application for transfer was dismissed by the Supreme Court on 4th February 1967.

56. On 17th September 1968, the prosecution gave notice, under Article 34, paragraph 2, first sub-paragraph, of the Code of Criminal Procedure, of the withdrawal of the charges of fraudulent bankruptcy in view of Ringeisen’s final conviction and the sentence imposed on 15th February 1968 in the fraud case. The Linz Regional Court ordered the discontinuance of the prosecution for fraudulent bankruptcy and Ringeisen was so notified on 27th September 1968.

III. THE DETENTION OF RINGEISEN ON REMAND
A. The first period of detention (5th August to 23rd December 1963)

57. On 30th July 1963, the investigating judge at Linz in charge of the preliminary investigation in the fraud case (paragraphs 24 et seqq. above) issued a warrant for Ringeisen’s arrest on the ground of danger of his committing further offences (Wiederholungsgefahr) under Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 4, of the Code of Criminal Procedure; the judge stated that Ringeisen continued, although aware of the Regional Commission’s refusal to approve the contract for sale he had made with the Roth couple, to commit punishable acts by having further advertisements for the sale of sites inserted in newspapers. Ringeisen was arrested on 5th August 1963 and brought the next day before the investigating judge who remanded him in custody on the ground that there was a danger of his committing further offences.

In August and September 1963, Ringeisen applied for release. The application was dismissed by the Judges’ Chamber (Ratskammer) of the Linz Regional Court on 4th September 1963; the court considered that there was both a danger of Ringeisen committing further offences and a danger of suppression of evidence (Verdunkelungsgefahr, Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 3, of the Code of Criminal Procedure). The Linz Court of Appeal dismissed Ringeisen’s appeal on 23rd September 1963 on the grounds that it could be assumed from Ringeisen’s conduct that he would commit further offences and that there was a danger of suppression of evidence.
58. Another application for release pending trial was made by Ringeisen on 28th October 1963. This was refused by the investigating judge on November 7th and, on appeal, by the Judges’ Chamber on November 19th for the same two reasons.

On further appeal, the application was allowed by the Linz Court of Appeal on 19th December 1963 subject to Ringeisen giving a solemn undertaking (Gelöbnis) in accordance with Article 191 of the Code of Criminal Procedure. The Court of Appeal pointed out, inter alia, that:
"(...)

The orders made in chambers (Beschlüsse auf Erlassung von einstweiligen Verfügungen) by the Linz Regional Court granting an injunction have now come into force; the accused is thereby instructed to deposit with the court the powers of attorney he holds from Mr. and Mrs. Roth, and is prohibited from selling or encumbering the properties in Annaberg ... When it is further taken into consideration that the accused’s transactions with regard to the above-named properties and the criminal charges and civil actions relating to these transactions have been given very wide publicity, then it cannot be supposed that the accused will still be able to advertise and to find purchasers for building plots. Furthermore, the investigations so far have failed to yield any conclusive indications that the accused might commit criminal offences in other ways, particularly since the complaints against him are essentially concerned with his conduct in connection with the purchase and resale of Mr. and Mrs. Roth’s property. Moreover, any further fears that the accused might frustrate the safeguarding of building plot purchasers’ claims can be dismissed as a result of his offer to deposit with the court the decision of the Linz District Court dated 2nd October 1963 on the entry of the priority notice of a contemplated charge (Anmerkung der Rangordnung über die beabsichtigte Verpfändung) for 2,000,000 AS on his property in Linz. There are thus no special grounds to justify the fear that the accused might repeat the criminal offences that he is suspected of having previously committed. There is thus no longer any ground for detention under Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 4, of the 1960 Code of Criminal Procedure.

In the same way, there are no longer grounds for maintaining detention on remand under Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 3, and Article 180, paragraph 1, of the 1960 Code of Criminal Procedure. According to Article 190, paragraph 2, of this Code, detention on remand in cases where the accused is held merely on the ground set out in Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 3, must not be extended beyond two months, or beyond three months if the extension is approved by the Regional Court of Appeal. These time-limits have already expired. It is true that several fresh complaints have been made out against the accused, but these relate mainly to the same series of facts, namely the accused’s actions in connection with the purchase of Mr. and Mrs. Roth’s property and the resale of building plots. Moreover, the persons named in these fresh complaints ... have already been heard on the major issues by the investigating judge, so for this reason too there is no longer any danger of collusion or suppression of evidence (Verabredungs- und Verdunkelungsgefahr).

(...)

As regards the deposit, offered by the accused, of the decision on the entry of a priority notice, or the prolongation of this decision when it expires, the investigating judge will have to take the necessary measures, particularly since the accused has expressly offered to deposit this decision if he is released."

The offer thus accepted by the Court of Appeal had been made by Ringeisen when he had applied to be released on 28th October 1963; the Judges’ Chamber of the Regional Court had refused it on 19th November as being insufficient to dispel the danger of his committing further offences.

59. Ringeisen was then released on 23rd December 1963 on his giving the solemn undertaking and depositing with the court the decision for the entry of a priority notice of a contemplated charge. His first detention had lasted four months and eighteen days.

60. On being convened by the investigating judge, Ringeisen stated on 30th September 1964 that he wished to consult a lawyer about a new entry of a priority notice (the first one was due to expire the following day). The judge allowed him until 7th October to deposit such security. In a letter of 17th October, Ringeisen made an offer of an entry of a priority notice on the proceeds of a contemplated sale (Anmerkung der Rangordnung der beabsichtigten Veräusserung) of his property at Linz for the sum of 1,500,000 AS. He renewed this offer when he appeared before the investigating judge on 16th February 1965; the judge accepted the offer while remarking that the priority notice offered could not be considered as a substitute (Ersatz) for the former one. On 23rd February, Ringeisen obtained from the Linz District Court a decision, valid until 22nd February 1966, for the entry of the new security he had offered and he deposited it with the investigating judge on 15th March 1965.

B. The second period of detention (15th March 1965 to 20th March 1967)

61. On 15th March 1965, the public prosecutor’s office applied to the investigating judge, in the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings (19 Vr. 1566/64), for, inter alia, an order for the arrest and detention of Ringeisen on remand pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraphs 3 (danger of collusion) and 4 (danger of committing further offences) of the Code of Criminal Procedure.

The investigating judge granted the application. Ringeisen, who happened to be at the court in connection with the other criminal proceedings, was arrested immediately and informed of the reasons for his remand in custody.

The warrant of arrest recited the offences of which Ringeisen was suspected in the two criminal proceedings and in conclusion stated:

"The accused has ... in full knowledge of his very considerable financial liabilities arising from his unsuccessful land speculations, diminished the assets available for the satisfaction of claims in damages by contracting a large loan, accepting advance payments of rent, transferring property, etc.; he has prejudiced the interests of creditors not belonging to the priority classes and frustrated execution of judgments.

The present warrant is issued as requested by the prosecution in order to counter the danger of collusion between the accused and parties contracting with him and to prevent the danger that he continues activities which could lead to a further diminution of his assets or the frustration of execution."

62. The following day, 16th March 1965, Ringeisen appeared before the investigating judge where he declared he was appealing against the order for his arrest and detention on remand.

On 26th March 1965, Ringeisen appealed in writing to be provisionally released; he took up in some detail the various considerations set forth in the warrant. He emphasised that it was absolutely impossible for him to cause damage to his creditors because of a sworn statement of assets he had made on 15th December 1964 and the fact that his personal property and all debts due to him were under seizure. He added that he needed to work on the land at this season. In support, he appended some documents, including a civil court order of 5th March 1965 refusing him free legal aid for the reason that he was still the owner of property which an expert valued at 4,000,000 AS.

In a supplementary document submitted on 17th May 1965, Ringeisen filed an account showing that he had made a claim for over 2,000,000 AS against the Roth couple in their bankruptcy proceedings. He stated that his detention in April and May was going to cause him a loss of sales of agricultural produce, in July and August, amounting to about 100,000 AS. He also asked to be released in order to be able to provide for his son.

The appeal was refused by the Judges’ Chamber of the Linz Regional Court on 26th May 1965. The court held that the ground of danger of collusion had ceased to be operative by reason of the expiry of the time-limit (Article 190, paragraph 2, of the Code of Criminal Procedure) but that Ringeisen’s continued detention on the ground of a danger of his committing further offences

"is however necessary and expedient in view of the factual and legal position, which is described in detail in the warrant of 15th March 1965, taken together with the appellant’s attitude obstinately denying all guilt ... in spite of the partial results of the preliminary investigation, which clearly incriminate him. For the accused’s attitude of mind as already known to the court gives rise to the fear that he would use his freedom to renew the criminal conduct with which he is charged".

On further appeal, in which Ringeisen referred to the fact that he had been adjudged bankrupt on May 14th, the Linz Court of Appeal nevertheless confirmed, on 16th June 1965, the Judges’ Chamber’s decision for the reasons set out therein.

63. In the meanwhile and at the same time as the indictment was filed in the fraud case (27th April 1965), the public prosecutor’s office had requested the Linz Regional Court to remand Ringeisen in custody in that case too for danger of absconding (Fluchtgefahr, Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 2, of the Code of Criminal Procedure) and for danger of committing further offences. The request was based on the grounds that the decision for the entry of a priority notice for a contemplated charge, which Ringeisen had deposited in court on his release on 23rd December 1963, had expired on 1st October 1964 and had not been renewed; that by reason of Ringeisen’s "abusive and hopeless" litigation his creditors had been unable to avail themselves of that security while it was still valid; that enquiries had revealed that Ringeisen kept concealed considerable sums of money which he might use to abscond in view of the indictment preferred against him; that, in addition, there was a risk that the damage caused would become irreparable and, in view of Ringeisen’s particular pertinacity, there was a danger of his committing further offences.

The Linz Regional Court ordered, on 12th May 1965, that Ringeisen should again be held in detention in the fraud case. It began by stating in its reasons that his first detention had been terminated in December 1963

"... in particular because the accused, through his offer to deposit the decision of the Linz District Court dated 2nd October 1963 ... relating to the entry of a priority notice for a contemplated charge for a sum of 2,000,000 AS, was able to dispel the suspicion that he might frustrate the guaranteeing of the claims of the purchasers of building plots".

The court continued:

"Ringeisen who had stated that he was willing, in the expiration of this priority notice, to obtain a corresponding further guarantee for the purchasers of plots, was only able after the expiry of this priority notice (1st October 1964) to deposit on 15th March 1965 a decision of the Linz District Court dated 23rd February 1965 ... relating to the entry in the St. Peter register of a priority notice of a contemplated sale of the property No. 238. The purchasers had not been able to make any use of the priority notice up to 1st October 1964 because Michael Ringeisen through his persistent litigation made it impossible for the individual creditors to obtain execution orders. The chances of receiving reparation thus appear not merely doubtful but, as far as many creditors are concerned, quite out of the question, owing to the heavy prior encumbrances on the premises situated at No. 217, Wiener Reichstrasse.

 .....

It cannot be assumed that the accused did in fact invest the whole one and a half million schillings received from the purchasers of plots in the incomplete building on the Alkoven property; moreover, enquiries addressed to all the financial institutions at Linz show that Ringeisen has no money deposited there. It is quite natural to conclude from this that the accused is keeping money hidden which, in his reaction to the charge now preferred, he could use in order to abscond .... A further consideration is that the accused’s real property is so encumbered that to abandon it, should he abscond, would not involve any serious loss.

In its decision [19th December 1963] the Linz Court of Appeal has already explained that the numerous sales, which continued for almost a year after the refusal of approval by the District Commission, were evidence of conduct by the accused revealing particular pertinacity in attempting to obtain money by the sale of building sites. Although the accused is also in detention on remand on account of the separate proceedings before this court relating to frustration of execution (19 Vr. 1566/64) the ground of detention specified in Article 175, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph 4, of the Code of Criminal Procedure is nonetheless established since it is to be feared that, were the accused to be released in the other proceedings, he might cause the damage to purchasers of building plots to become final or, considering the large number of previous acts, might commit further similar offences."

This decision was confirmed on appeal by the Linz Court of Appeal on 19th May 1965 for the reasons of danger of absconding and danger of committing further offences. At the very end of May or early in June 1965, Ringeisen attempted to make a further appeal but withdrew this complaint when he appeared in court on June 8th (paragraph 38 above).

64. Ringeisen made further applications for provisional release in both criminal cases on 12th July, 29th July, 30th August and 20th September 1965. These applications were refused by the investigating judges, in the fraudulent bankruptcy case on September 23rd and in the fraud case on the following day. Both judges found that the reasons for his detention continued.

Against these decisions Ringeisen lodged appeals, which were separate but couched in almost identical terms, in the fraudulent bankruptcy case on 24th September and in the fraud case on 27th September; he filed supplementary documents on 3rd October and 2nd November. He alleged that the reasons given to continue his detention were fictitious and artificial and that the authorities wished to deprive him of his property and rights and to prevent him from protecting the interests of the purchasers of plots. He claimed that if he was at liberty he could defend himself against these measures, prove that the prosecution was covering up for the real villains and consult the court files whereas persons unknown had, during his detention, suppressed documents which were damning for the witnesses and the prosecution. He further complained that he was sustaining heavy losses as he could not work on his land or at his insurance agency and he asserted that his son of sixteen years had had to abandon his studies and take a job as an unskilled labourer.

The appeal in the fraudulent bankruptcy case was refused by the Judges’ Chamber on 10th November 1965 by reference to its previous decision of 26th May 1965 confirmed by the Court of Appeal on 16th June 1965: it was stated that the circumstances which had then justified the continued detention of Ringeisen on remand still held good. On 9th December 1965, the Linz Court of Appeal dismissed a further appeal, approving the reasons stated in the decision of the Judges’ Chamber.

No separate decision appears to have been taken on the appeal of 27th September 1965 in the fraud case.

65. In the course of the trial in the fraud case, Ringeisen applied, on 17th December 1965 and in both criminal proceedings, to be released for Christmas; the judge who was presiding at the trial refused the application on 28th December 1965.

66. On 14th December 1965, Ringeisen had made another application for provisional release in the fraudulent bankruptcy case in which he maintained that there was no danger of his committing further offences as his property was no longer at his disposal on account of his bankruptcy; the investigating judge refused the application on December 20th, on the ground that this danger continued.

On appeal, the Judges’ Chamber confirmed this decision on 29th December 1965 referring to the earlier decisions relating to Ringeisen’s detention on remand (Judges’ Chamber on 26th May and 10th November 1965; Court of Appeal on 16th June and 9th December 1965).

A further appeal by Ringeisen was dismissed by the Court of Appeal on 9th February 1966; the Court of Appeal found that the appeal was unsupported by any facts to rebut the reasoning that there was still a danger of his committing further offences and that the adjudication in bankruptcy did not remove this danger; it referred to its decision of 16th June and 9th December 1965.

67. Immediately after Ringeisen’s conviction for fraud on 14th January 1966 (paragraph 41 above), his counsel had requested the Regional Court to release him from detention pending the hearing of the plea of nullity and appeal. Counsel stated that his client had no previous convictions and that after spending a year in detention on remand it would not be worthwhile absconding; as the property had been sold there was no longer any danger of his committing further offences. The public prosecutor opposed this application on the grounds that the reasons for detention remained valid and, as Ringeisen was in detention on remand in the other criminal proceedings, he would gain nothing by an order for his release in this case.

The Regional Court decided that Ringeisen should be released in this case subject to his giving a solemn undertaking in accordance with Article 191 of the Code of Criminal Procedure; it found that the reasons for his detention on remand no longer obtained.

The public prosecution lodged an appeal against the decision on the grounds that: it was not completely clear what had become of the money received by Ringeisen and he might use it to abscond; the danger of his absconding was even enhanced by the fact that he had been sentenced to a term of three years’ imprisonment of which he still had two years to serve; it was possible that the Supreme Court would increase the sentence; on account of his frequent repetition of fraudulent acts it could be concluded that there was a danger of Ringeisen’s committing further offences; although Ringeisen did not have real estate available any longer, fraudulent contracting of loans could doubtless also be effected by other methods. As this appeal had suspensive effect (Article 197 of the Code of Criminal Procedure), Ringeisen stayed in custody on remand.

On 2nd March 1966, the Linz Court of Appeal allowed the public prosecution’s appeal. It held that there had been no favourable change of circumstances since its decision of 19th May 1965; on the contrary, the sentence passed on Ringeisen and the fact that it might be increased as a result of the prosecution’s appeals might prompt him to abscond, particularly as his property in Austria was encumbered beyond its value and to abandon it would be no real loss; moreover, the frequency of his punishable acts and his obstinate attitude justified the fear that he would repeat the offences. This danger was not removed by the fact that further dealings with the property at Alkoven were impossible, as Ringeisen was also charged with offences unconnected with that property.

68. At the same time as he lodged on 3rd March 1966 the plea of nullity and appeal against his conviction and sentence of 14th January 1966 in the fraud case (paragraph 42 above), Ringeisen requested his immediate release on the grounds that he had already spent two years in custody on remand. The case-files were first transmitted to the Supreme Court, which dismissed on 27th June 1966 various procedural applications made by Ringeisen, and then returned to the Linz Regional Court for consideration of the request for provisional release. Ringeisen’s lawyer withdrew that request on 30th June 1966 in order that the files should be transmitted again immediately to the Supreme Court for the hearing of the pleas of nullity and the appeals which had been fixed for 14th July 1966.

69. In the fraudulent bankruptcy case, Ringeisen had made a further application for provisional release on 18th February 1966, again combined with a request for transfer. He referred to the earlier decisions (16th June 1965, 9th December 1965 and 9th February 1966) refusing his release in which it had been held that the danger of his committing further offences continued in spite of his having been adjudged bankrupt and he said that this "fictitious" reason might have been given either because the Court of Appeal was not aware of the true facts or because of the intrigues of an official of the prosecution whom he suspected of scheming in the Alkoven business. In this connection, he alleged in particular that there were political considerations involved: his building schemes would have brought to the district numerous purchasers of modest means whose votes would have reinforced the socialist majority in the town council to which the Provincial Government and certain officials were opposed; the judges in the jurisdiction of the Linz Court of Appeal were prejudiced against him as many of them served on the Real Property Transactions Commissions and the others were influenced by their colleagues as well as by the wide publicity given to his affairs. He complained in detail of the unfair way in which the various proceedings against him, including his bankruptcy, had been handled, he protested his innocence and he emphasised that he had been held in detention for sixteen months. He threatened to go on hunger strike as from 1st March and he insisted that his application be referred to the Supreme Court for an order that it be decided upon by a regional court other than that within the jurisdiction of the Linz Court of Appeal.

He reiterated the application on 22nd April 1966 in a document supplementing his objection to the indictment, explaining in a further document filed on 15th May 1966 that the investigating judge had informed him that an application for release could not be combined with the objection to the indictment.

The Linz Court of Appeal, when rejecting the objection to the indictment on 6th July 1966 (paragraph 54 above), also decided that Ringeisen should remain in custody since the danger of his committing further offences continued; the court observed that there had been no change in the legal or factual circumstances since its decision of 9th February 1966.

70. On 15th July 1966, the day after the pleas of nullity and the appeals in the fraud case had been at hearing (paragraph 43 above), Ringeisen applied to be released from detention in each of the criminal proceedings.

In his application in the fraud case, he said that the representative of the Attorney General (Generalprokurator) had asked at the Supreme Court for his conviction to be set aside on all counts; Ringeisen inferred from this that there was no longer any basis for the charges made in the indictment and no suspicion to justify the detention on remand. He complained of having spent twenty-two months in detention in spite of being innocent. He added that when he had been at liberty from 23rd December 1963 to 15th March 1965 he had not attempted to abscond and there was therefore nothing to show he might do so now. As to the danger of his committing further offences, he stated that the dividing up of the land at Alkoven was a unique operation which could not be repeated and that, as the Roth couple has been made bankrupt, their assets were in the hands of the official assignee.

His application in the fraudulent bankruptcy case referred to that made in the fraud case.

71. The investigating judge refused the application for release in the fraudulent bankruptcy case on 22nd July 1966.

Ringeisen appealed on 8th August 1966; stating that his German was not fluent enough to enable him to explain in writing his appeal and circumstances correctly and in full detail, he said the reasons given in the Court of Appeal’s decision of 9th February 1966 were fictitious and he applied to be allowed to prove this orally before the court; he complained of having spent twenty-two months in detention though innocent and referred to newspaper articles on his trial and to court documents to show he was being denied justice. He said he had done all he could to help the purchasers, who were of modest means, to obtain their rights. He exhibited a document to show he had never been insolvent and said his detention and his bankruptcy prevented him from arranging for the payment of his debts. He denied having frustrated execution of judgments by paying some debts preferentially; he said that, apart from the land at Alkoven, he had other means to secure and later refund the money which had been paid to him. If he was released as soon as possible, he stated, the purchasers would be spared further loss.

The Judges’ Chamber dismissed the appeal on 24th August 1966 for the reason that the situation as regards the facts and the law had remained unchanged since the decisions of the Linz Court of Appeal of 16th June 1965, 9th December 1965 and 9th February 1966 and the circumstances therein set out still justified continuation of the detention for the danger of committing further offences.

72. The public prosecutor’s office opposed Ringeisen’s application for release in the fraud case on 9th September 1966 on the ground that the reasons for his detention continued to exist having regard, in particular, to the Supreme Court’s decision (paragraph 43 above).

The application for release was refused by the Linz Regional Court on 21st September 1966. The court found that there was a danger of Ringeisen absconding as he had been finally convicted of fraud involving more than 1,300,000 AS and was faced with the prospect of a heavy sentence; there was also a danger of repetition of offences as found by the Court of Appeal on 2nd March 1966; as the case was to be reheard before the Regional Court on 18th October 1966 the detention on remand would in any event be terminated soon.

Ringeisen appealed against this decision the following day. As to the danger of absconding, he argued that his sentence would not be greater than that he had received on 14th January 1966 because his conviction on one count (Widmann) had been quashed and there were mitigating circumstances in his favour; furthermore, it had to be taken into consideration that he had spent almost two years in detention and that Austria was the centre of his private and business affairs. As to the danger of his committing further offences, he stated that the passage of time, the advanced stage reached in his bankruptcy and, once again, the two years spent in detention on remand showed that this danger did not exist. Finally, he invoked the imminent rehearing by the trial court as a special reason for his immediate release in order that his defence should not be seriously impeded.
The Linz Court of Appeal refused Ringeisen’s appeal on 28th September 1966, finding that there was still a danger of absconding and a danger of his committing further offences. On the first point, it approved the decision of the lower court; on the second, it referred to its own decision of 2nd March 1966.

73. Ringeisen had made another application for release in the fraudulent bankruptcy case on 15th September 1966 in which he disputed there was any danger of further offences. First, he recalled that the facts on which he was charged dated back for two and a half years and that the prosecution alleged he had put 140,000 AS aside for himself. Although he had submitted an account showing an expenditure on his part for the year 1964 which exceeded that sum and in spite of his repeated requests, the investigating judge had never made enquiries into the matter and this was delaying his release. Lastly, he emphasised that his property and assets were frozen in bankruptcy and all his income went to the official assignee.

The investigating judge refused the application on 27th September 1966 and, on an appeal in which Ringeisen declared that the decision was an abuse of the law, the Judges’ Chamber confirmed on 27th October 1966 the decision for the same reasons which it had given in its decision of 24th August 1966 (paragraph 71 above).

A further appeal, in which Ringeisen again alleged that the reasons for his detention were fictitious, was dismissed by the Linz Court of Appeal on 30th November 1966 by reference with approval to the reasons given by the Judges’ Chamber; the Court of Appeal went on, solely for the sake of completeness, to note that Ringeisen would not gain any substantial advantage by obtaining a decision releasing him from detention in these proceedings, since he was also provisionally detained in the proceedings against him for fraud in which he had been sentenced on 18th October 1966 by the Linz Regional Court to five years’ severe imprisonment and his appeal for annulment and against sentence was still pending before the Supreme Court.

74. Ringeisen applied again for provisional release, in each of the criminal proceedings, on 27th January 1967. In both applications, Ringeisen pleaded that on account of bad health he was unfit to be kept in detention. He asserted, moreover, that the alleged dangers of absconding and committing further offences were artificial in the fraud case; in the fraudulent bankruptcy case, he stated that the allegation made against him of having set aside 140,000 AS for his own use, would be shown to be untrue if his statements were checked but the court refused to do this.

75. On 8th February 1967, the Judges’ Chamber of the Linz Regional Court refused the application for provisional release in the fraudulent bankruptcy case for reasons similar to those it had given on 24th August and 27th October 1966 (paragraphs 71 and 73 above).

76. The application for release in the fraud case was opposed by the public prosecutor’s office on 9th February. The Linz Regional Court rejected the application on 15th February 1967, stating:

"In view of the existing conviction for fraud on numerous counts, which caused heavy loss, and of the sentence (five years) pronounced against the accused ..., both grounds for detention must still be assumed to be valid. The length of detention on remand up to now has no bearing on the danger of his committing further offences. Nor, in view of the sentence pronounced, can his lengthy detention be allowed to rule out the possibility of his absconding. As regards both these grounds for detention reference is made for the rest, to the Linz Court of Appeal’s decision of 2nd March 1966 ...."

As regards his plea of ill-health, the court noted that this could not justify release but, at most, transfer to a closed section of a hospital and that in any case the prison doctor had found Ringeisen’s general state of health to be good on 1st February 1967.

Ringeisen appealed against this decision to the Linz Court of Appeal which decided, on 15th March 1967, that the appeal should be allowed and ordered that he should be released from detention on remand on his giving a solemn undertaking. The Court of Appeal found that Ringeisen’s situation had changed considerably since its decision of 2nd March 1966. After about two and a half years spent in detention on remand it could no longer be reasonably assumed that he would abscond in order to avoid prosecution, even having regard to the sentence pronounced on 18th October 1966. As to the danger of his committing further offences, the Court of Appeal observed that two charges unconnected with the Alkoven property (fraud on F. Widmann and fraudulent conversion) had been discontinued on 14th September 1966; the only count remaining was that which concerned the fraud perpetrated on the 78 purchasers of sites at Alkoven. The court had already pointed out in the decision of 2nd March 1966 that Ringeisen could no longer deal with that property. Moreover, it could be expected that the length of his detention on remand would suffice to deter Ringeisen from committing further offences, especially as he had had no previous convictions.

77. Invoking this decision, Ringeisen applied again, on 20th March 1967, for his provisional release in the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings. On this occasion, the public prosecutor’s office expressed a favourable opinion on the application which was granted by the investigating judge. Ringeisen was accordingly released from detention the same day on his giving a solemn undertaking. His second detention had lasted two years and five days.

*            *

*

78. In his application to the Commission (no. 2614/65), Ringeisen submitted a series of complaints, some concerning the criminal proceedings brought against him and the others relating to administrative and civil cases which he had introduced before the Austrian authorities. He alleged the violation of Articles 5, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 14 (art. 5, art. 6, art. 7, art. 10, art. 11, art. 14) of the Convention and of Articles 1, 2 and 3 of the First Protocol (P1-1, P1-2, P1-3).

79. After having declared inadmissible, on 2nd June 1967, certain parts of the application, the Commission, on 18th July 1968, accepted the applicant’s complaints as regards:

- Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), of the Convention concerning the length of Ringeisen’s detention on remand in the fraud and fraudulent bankruptcy cases;

- Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), concerning the length of the proceedings in the same criminal cases;

- Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), concerning the refusal of the Austrian Constitutional Court to examine the allegations of bias on the part of members of the Regional Commission.

80. After the failure of the attempt to arrange a friendly settlement made by the Sub-Commission, the plenary Commission drew up a report as required under Article 31 (art. 31) of the Convention. The report was adopted on 19th March 1970 and transmitted to the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe on 29th April 1970. The Commission expressed therein the following opinion:

- by eleven votes to one: the applicant’s detention lasted beyond "a reasonable time", with the result that, in the present case, there was a violation of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3);

- neither in the fraud case (unanimously) nor in the fraudulent bankruptcy case (eleven votes to one) did the length of the criminal proceedings taken against Ringeisen exceed "a reasonable time" within the meaning of Article 6 (1) (art. 6-1);

- by seven votes to five: Article 6 (1) (art. 6-1) has not been violated in the proceedings for approval of the contracts for sale because these proceedings did not involve the determination of "civil rights and obligations".

The report contains several separate opinions, some concurring, others dissenting.

AS TO THE LAW

81. The Court is called upon to decide the following three points:

I. Was Ringeisen the victim of a violation of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), of the Convention in the proceedings he introduced before the competent authorities for approval of a transfer of real property consisting of farmland?

II. Did the detention of Ringeisen exceed the limits of a reasonable time in violation of Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3)?

III. Did the duration of the criminal proceedings against Ringeisen exceed the limits of a reasonable time as laid down in Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1)?

I. AS TO THE QUESTION WHETHER RINGEISEN WAS THE VICTIM OF A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 6, PARAGRAPH (1) (art. 6-1), IN THE PROCEEDINGS HE INTRODUCED TO OBTAIN APPROVAL OF A TRANSFER OF REAL PROPERTY CONSISTING OF FARMLAND
82. Against this complaint, the Government raised a plea of inadmissibility on the grounds that on this point the application did not satisfy the conditions of Article 26 (art. 26). The Commission has contested the Court’s jurisdiction to rule on this submission as it considers that it is the only body empowered by the Convention to decide on the admissibility of applications.

In addition, the Government contended that Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), invoked by the applicant was inapplicable as this was not a case of the "determination of ... civil rights and obligations" ("contestations sur (des) droits et obligations de caractère civil"). The Commission expressed the same opinion by a majority and hence did not find it necessary to examine whether the proceedings put in issue were in conformity with the requirements of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1); a minority of five members expressed the view that the case did in fact involve the determination of civil rights.

83. Thus, within the framework of this complaint, the Court is or may be called upon to decide four points as follows:

(a) whether it has jurisdiction to deal with the admissibility;

(b) if so, the admissibility of the complaint under Article 26 (art. 26);

(c) if the reply to the second question is in the affirmative, the applicability of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), to the proceedings in question;

(d) if the reply to the third question is in the affirmative, the question whether this complaint is well-founded.

(a) As to jurisdiction

84. For the reasons stated in paragraphs 47 to 51 of the judgment of the plenary Court of 18th June 1971 in the De Wilde, Ooms and Versyp cases, the Court cannot accept the principal submission of the Commission; it therefore rules that it has jurisdiction.

(b) As to the substance of the submission of inadmissibility on the ground of non-exhaustion of domestic remedies

85. The Government observes that the application to the Commission was lodged on 3rd July 1965 while the final judgment of the Constitutional Court was not delivered until 27th September 1965. From this the Government infers that all domestic remedies had not been exhausted at the time when the application was made and that, consequently, the Commission was not competent to deal with the complaint.

86. In this connection, the representatives of the Government and the delegates of the Commission made lengthy submissions on the interpretation to be given to the first part of Article 26 (art. 26).

87. The representatives of the Government, relying on the French text of Article 26 (art. 26), argued that the Commission was seized ("saisie") of an application at the moment of its receipt by the Secretary General of the Council of Europe and that all domestic remedies had to be exhausted before the Commission may deal (être saisie) with a case so that an application could not be submitted validly if the first condition of Article 26 (art. 26) had not been fulfilled beforehand.

In their view, the second condition laid down by this Article (art. 26) confirmed, moreover, the necessity to keep to a strict interpretation of the words "the Commission may only deal ...". In effect, it was perfectly clear that "the period of six months from the date on which the final decision was taken" put a limit to the time within which an application may validly be lodged and not to that within which the Commission may deal with the cases submitted to it.

88. The Commission’s delegates, on the contrary, maintained that in the English text, which is equally authentic with the French text, the phrase "the Commission may only deal with" showed that non-exhaustion of domestic remedies did not prevent the lodging of the application, but solely its examination by the Commission.

In their view, the preparatory work provided a further reason to pay special attention to the English text: the original text of Article 26 (art. 26) having been drafted in French, the English-speaking experts of a drafting sub-committee first translated the sentence by the words "The Commission may only be petitioned after all domestic legal remedies have been exhausted ...", which corresponded exactly to the literal meaning of the French text, and then substituted therefore the present English text, "The Commission may only deal with the matter ...".

Even without referring to the English text - they continued – common sense showed, in any case, that at the very least the condition of exhaustion of domestic remedies written into Article 26 (art. 26) cannot oblige the applicant to do more than exercise all the remedies available to him; it would be hard to imagine that, before petitioning the international organs, he was bound to await the final domestic decision given at the close of a procedure the length of which did not depend exclusively on him. This interpretation was - they stated - the only one in conformity with the ratio legis of the rule of exhaustion of domestic remedies, namely the protection of the States against any decision holding them responsible for a violation of an international obligation without the competent national authorities having been seized of the complaint in order to remedy the situation where necessary. This concern doubtless implied that no international verdict should be given before the final decision of the national courts but not that such a final decision must be prior in point of time to the lodging of the international application.

Lastly, in their submission, it was wrong to argue against this wide interpretation by relying on the six-months rule laid down in the last part of Article 26 (art. 26). The sole purpose of this provision was to fix clearly a time-limit beyond which matters finally decided by the domestic courts cannot again be put in issue before the Commission.

89. The Court does not consider that it can adopt either of these extreme positions.

On the one hand, it would certainly be going too far and contrary to the spirit of the rule of exhaustion of domestic remedies to allow that a person may properly lodge an application with the Commission before exercising any domestic remedies.

On the other hand, international courts have on various occasions held that international law cannot be applied with the same regard for matters of form as is sometimes necessary in the application of national law. Article 26 (art. 26) of the Convention refers expressly to the generally recognised rules of international law. The Commission was therefore quite right in declaring in various circumstances that there was a need for a certain flexibility in the application of the rule (see, for example, the decision of 30th August 1958 on the admissibility of application No. 332/57, Lawless v. Ireland, Yearbook of the Convention, Vol. 2, pp. 324-326).

90. It may furthermore be observed that the original applications addressed to the Commission are frequently followed, within a short time, by additional documents the purpose of which is often to fill the gaps or clarify obscure points which are indicated to the applicant by the Secretary of the Commission during the preliminary examination which he carries out. There is no reason why this supplement to the initial application should not relate in particular to the proof that the applicant has complied with the conditions of Article 26 (art. 26), even if he has done so after the lodging of the application. When the Commission decides whether or not a case is inadmissible, its examination is directed necessarily to the application and the supporting documents considered as a whole.

91. Thus, while it is fully upheld that the applicant is, as a rule, in duty bound to exercise the different domestic remedies before he applies to the Commission, it must be left open to the Commission to accept the fact that the last stage of such remedies may be reached shortly after the lodging of the application but before the Commission is called upon to pronounce itself on admissibility.

92. The Court further notes that individual applications often come from laymen who, in more than nine cases out of ten, address themselves to the Commission without legal assistance. A formalistic interpretation of Article 26 (art. 26) would therefore lead to unfair consequences.

93. In the present case, it is clear that Ringeisen exercised, before he lodged his application with the Commission, every domestic remedy which was available to him; nor is it contested that a final domestic decision was taken. It is true that the Constitutional Court delivered its judgment only after the application had been made to the Commission but the relevant acts in the domestic and international proceedings occurred in the following order:

- the constitutional appeal was lodged on 2nd April 1965;

- the application to the Commission was lodged on 3rd July 1965 and registered on 24th September 1965;

- the judgment of the Constitutional Court was delivered on 27th September 1965;

- the applicant informed the Commission of this on 13th May 1966 and complained that the Constitutional Court had rejected the appeal made by him against the Regional Commission’s decision of 3rd February 1965;

- the Commission gave, on 2nd June 1967, a partial decision on admissibility and then a final decision, after receiving the Government’s observations, on 18th July 1968.

Reference to these facts suffices to show that no legitimate interest of the respondent State could have been prejudicial in the present case through the fact that the application was lodged and registered a short while before the final decision of the Constitutional Court.

The Court therefore rejects as unfounded the submission of inadmissibility grounded on the inobservance of Article 26 (art. 26).

(c) As to the question whether the present complaint involves the determination of civil rights and obligations

94. For Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), to be applicable to a case ("contestation") it is not necessary that both parties to the proceedings should be private persons, which is the view of the majority of the Commission and of the Government. The wording of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), is far wider; the French expression "contestations sur (des) droits et obligations de caractère civil" covers all proceedings the result of which is decisive for private rights and obligations. The English text "determination of ... civil rights and obligations", confirms this interpretation.

The character of the legislation which governs how the matter is to be determined (civil, commercial, administrative law, etc.) and that of the authority which is invested with jurisdiction in the matter (ordinary court, administrative body, etc.) are therefore of little consequence.

In the present case, when Ringeisen purchased property from the Roth couple, he had a right to have the contract for sale which they had made with him approved if he fulfilled, as he claimed to do, the conditions laid down in the Act. Although it was applying rules of administrative law, the Regional Commission’s decision was to be decisive for the relations in civil law ("de caractère civil") between Ringeisen and the Roth couple. This is enough to make it necessary for the Court to decide whether or not the proceedings in this case complied with the requirements of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), of the Convention.

(d) As to whether the complaint that Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), was not observed is well-founded

95. The Court has not found any facts to prove that Ringeisen was not given a "fair hearing" of his case. Besides, the Court observes that the Regional Commission is a "tribunal" within the meaning of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), of the Convention as it is independent of the executive and also of the parties, its members are appointed for a term of five years and the proceedings before it afford the necessary guarantees (see, mutatis mutandis, the Neumeister judgment of 27th June 1968, Series A, p. 44, paragraph 24, and the De Wilde, Ooms and Versyp judgment of 18th June 1971, paragraph 78).

96. The applicant, however, accused six members of the Regional Commission of bias; when these complaints were brought before it, the Constitutional Court did not find it necessary to examine their substance for the reason that, as stated in its judgment of 27th September 1965, the question of bias had no bearing on the competence of the Regional Commission which was the only question submitted to its supervision (paragraph 23 above).

97. It is not the function of the European Court to pronounce itself on the interpretation of Austrian law on which the said judgment is based or to express an opinion on the manner in which it was substantiated; on the other hand, it is the Court’s duty to examine the grounds relied upon by Ringeisen and to determine whether or not the Regional Commission respected the rule of impartiality laid down in Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1).

The Court finds that even if Ringeisen’s assertions were in fact true they would not support the conclusion that there was bias on the part of the Regional Commission. In the case of such a board with mixed membership comprising, under the presidency of a judge, civil servants and representatives of interested bodies, the complaint made against one member for the single reason that he sat as nominee of the Upper Austrian Chamber of Agriculture cannot be said to bear out a charge of bias. The same holds true for the complaint made against a member who was alleged by Ringeisen to have made certain statements the precise tenor of which the Regional Commission was, moreover, at pains to restore (paragraph 22 above). As to the twofold fact that the president had represented the Regional Commission before the Constitutional Court in 1964 and that another member had been heard as a witness, this is obviously immaterial. Nor, finally, can any grounds of legitimate suspicion be found in the fact that two other members had participated in the first decision of the Regional Commission, for it cannot be stated as a general rule resulting from the obligation to be impartial that a superior court which sets aside an administrative or judicial decision is bound to send the case back to a different jurisdictional authority or to a differently composed branch of that authority.

98. Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), is not limited, however, to ensuring that in every determination of civil rights and obligations there must be a fair hearing within a reasonable time; it also requires, at least as a general rule, that the case be heard and the judgment pronounced in public.

The Court could have verified, even proprio motu - and subject to the reopening of the hearings on this point - whether the District and Regional Commissions had complied with this rule or whether they were entitled to depart from it.

The Court has not undertaken this examination because Austria’s ratification of the Convention was made subject to the following reservation:

"...

The provisions of Article 6 (art. 6) of the Convention shall be so applied that there shall be no prejudice to the principles governing public court hearings (im gerichtlichen Verfahren) laid down in Article 90 of the 1929 version of the Federal Constitution Law.

 ..."

The said Article 90 is worded as follows:

"Hearings in civil and criminal cases (in Zivil- und Strafrechtssachen) by the trial court shall be oral and public. Exceptions may be prescribed by law.

 ..."

This reservation does not refer expressly to administrative proceedings but only to civil and criminal cases, that is, no doubt, the cases dealt with by the civil or criminal courts. Yet it must be accepted that the reservation covers a fortiori proceedings before administrative authorities where their subject matter is the determination of civil rights and where, therefore, the said authorities are considered to be tribunals within the meaning of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1). This is the case of the proceedings commenced by Ringeisen’s request for approval on 30th March 1962.

99. For these reasons, the Court reaches the conclusion that there was no violation of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), in the proceedings relating to that request.

II. AS TO THE QUESTION WHETHER THE DETENTION OF RINGEISEN EXCEEDED THE LIMITS OF A REASONABLE TIME IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 5, PARAGRAPH (3) (art. 5-3)

100. Ringeisen was detained in connection with two separate prosecutions, the first for fraud and fraudulent conversion (paragraphs 24 to 48 above), the second for fraudulent bankruptcy consisting mainly in the concealment of assets to the prejudice of creditors (paragraphs 49 to 56 above).

Each of these prosecutions gave rise to a warrant of arrest. The first warrant was issued on 30th July 1963 in the fraud case and led to the first detention which ended on 23rd December 1963 (paragraphs 57 to 59 above). The second warrant was issued on 15th March 1965 in the fraudulent bankruptcy case and, in addition, a decision to detain Ringeisen again in the fraud case was taken on 12th May 1965; the detention in the two proceedings ended by decisions to release him made, respectively, on 15th and 20th March 1967 (paragraphs 61, 63, 76 and 77 above).

The detention of Ringeisen in the two cases lasted in all nearly two years and five months.

101. The first period of detention (5th August to 23rd December 1963) would, if considered alone, fall outside the scope of the Court’s examination: the last decision given on appeal dismissing a request for release was made on 23rd September 1963, that is, far more than six months before the lodging of the application with the Commission (3rd July 1965). Nevertheless, these four and a half months of the first detention must be added to the periods which followed for the purpose of assessing the reasonableness of the whole period of detention on remand in the fraud case (see the Neumeister judgment of 27th June 1968, Series A, As to the Law, p. 37, paragraph 6).

102. As regards the second period of detention (15th March 1965 to 20th March 1967) it occurred entirely in the context of the proceedings for fraudulent bankruptcy, while the new detention ordered in the course of the prosecution for fraud lasted for only part of this time (12th May 1965 to 15th March 1967). It would therefore seem appropriate first to examine the reasonableness of the duration of the detention in the context of the fraudulent bankruptcy case; and all the more so as the representatives of the Government have not sought to justify before the Court either the decision taken on 12th May 1965 by the investigating judge to hold Ringeisen in detention again in the fraud case or the decisions taken later by the competent courts when they dismissed Ringeisen’s requests for release in the same proceedings.

103. The warrant of arrest issued on 15th March 1965 in the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings was in itself somewhat surprising; the first investigating judge, who dealt with the charges of fraud, had already thoroughly examined the way Ringeisen had used the money received from the sale of plots. There is no doubt that numerous further complaints were made to the public prosecutor’s office after 23rd December 1963 by purchasers who had paid at least part of the agreed purchase price, had not been able to get title to their sites because of the refusal to approve the contracts and had not obtained a refund of their payments, but all these transactions resulted from those which had been investigated in the fraud proceedings and it would have been natural to investigate them in the framework of the first case. Furthermore, the Court finds that, apart from the interrogations of Ringeisen, no measures of investigation were taken for three years in regard to the second prosecution.

However, once there was "reasonable" suspicion that Ringeisen had committed offences other than those with which he was charged in the first prosecution, his arrest in connection with them is covered by Article 5, paragraph (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c), of the Convention and is thus not subject to supervision by the Court.

104. The Court, however, has still to consider whether the length of the detention of Ringeisen in connection with this second prosecution exceeded the limits of the "reasonable time" referred to in Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), and hence to assess the reasons given by the Austrian courts to justify the dismissal of the Applicant’s requests for release (see, for example, the Neumeister judgment of 27th June 1968, Series A, p. 37, paragraph 5).

105. First of all, it is to be observed that, unlike those dealing with similar requests made in the first criminal proceedings, the authorities which had to take decisions in the second case never alleged that there was a danger of absconding; the reasons invoked were danger of collusion on the one hand and danger of committing further offences on the other.

106. The first reason does not stand up to examination. The police inquiries ordered by the investigating judge into the acts of fraudulent bankruptcy had in fact begun on 31st August 1964 and Ringeisen had been examined as early as 3rd September, and again on 20th October 1964 (paragraph 49 above). He remained at liberty however for almost five months after this latter date. If he had wished to tamper with witnesses - supposing that the investigating judge had proposed to hear some - he would have had every opportunity to do so in the interval.

107. As to the danger of committing further offences, the principal complaint which led to the bringing of the new prosecution of Ringeisen consisted of the allegation that he had negotiated fictitious transactions with an insurance company in order to conceal from his own creditors sums of money which were due to him by the company for commission (paragraphs 53 and 61 above).

The facts thus alleged against him dated, however, from the first half of 1964. In the interval, a provisional receiver had been appointed on 23rd March 1965 at the request of certain creditors (paragraph 51 above). What is even more, Ringeisen was adjudged bankrupt on 14th May 1965 with the consequence that from that date onwards not only was the administration of his property outside his power but no debt due could be paid validly to him in person if indeed he had any debtors other than the insurance company (paragraph 52 above).

The Court accordingly considers that the detention in the fraudulent bankruptcy case exceeded the reasonable limit at least as from 14th May 1965.

108. The same is true of Ringeisen’s detention in the fraud case for the greater part of this period.

The decisions to detain him again and to keep him in custody, taken after 12th May 1965 in connection with this prosecution, invoked the dangers of his absconding and of his committing further offences (paragraphs 61 to 76 above). No precise information was given, however, as to any circumstances arising after 12th May 1965 which caused such dangers to appear or to reappear.

This observation is especially pertinent as regards the danger of his committing further offences. As the Linz Court of Appeal had pointed out on 19th December 1963 when deciding to release Ringeisen, the case had attracted a lot of publicity and it was therefore most unlikely that Ringeisen would be able to seek and find other purchasers (paragraph 58 above). Once it became absolute, the withdrawal of the powers of attorney had in any event made any new negotiation for the sale of plots legally impossible; and, moreover, there had not in fact been any such negotiation since the middle of 1963 (paragraphs 17, 18 and 58 above).

The explanation of the decision of 12th May 1965 clearly lies in the fact that, since 15th March 1965, Ringeisen was being held in detention under a warrant of arrest issued by the judge who was investigating the charges of fraudulent bankruptcy; and, indeed, one of the Government’s counsel let it be understood that the decision itself was scarcely defensible in Austrian law. The predominant part played at the outset by the provisional detention in the fraudulent bankruptcy case was again made clear a few months later: on 24th and 27th September 1965, Ringeisen had attacked the two decisions of the investigating judges who, in both cases, had rejected his requests to be released but the file contains only one decision of the Judges’ Chamber dismissing an appeal, that given on 10th November 1965 in the fraudulent bankruptcy case (paragraph 64 above; see also paragraph 65).

109. The Government, however, recalled that Ringeisen was convicted of fraud on 14th January 1966; the Government deduced therefrom that the detention put in issue, which it describes as "Überhaft", had taken on as from that date a different character which removed it from the application of Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), because it was covered unconditionally by Article 5, paragraph (1) (a) (art. 5-1-a). On this point, the Government relied on the dictum in the Wemhoff judgment of 27th June 1968 (Series A, pp. 23-24, paragraph 9).

As against this, the Commission requested the Court to review the decision it had taken on the point in the earlier case, or at least to interpret it in such way that detention after conviction may be considered as remaining subject to Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), until the conviction becomes final in cases where the national law of the respondent State maintains up to that time the provisional character of the detention (on remand), makes the detention subject to the same conditions and affords to the detained person the same remedies.

The Court does not consider it necessary to pronounce itself on the submissions made on this point by the Government and the Commission. Indeed, the new detention ("Überhaft"), which was ordered on 12th May 1965 and lasted until 15th March 1967 in the fraud case, fell entirely within the limits of the remand in custody in the fraudulent bankruptcy case which was ordered on 15th March 1965 and finished only on 20th March 1967. The new detention can be explained in fact only by the other detention. The conviction of Ringeisen on 14th January 1966 did not change this situation.

It is significant in this connection that, in opposing the request for release made on 14th January 1966 by Ringeisen to the court which had just convicted him of fraud, the public prosecution submitted, in particular, that a decision to release him, if made, would be of no use to Ringeisen because he was also being held in detention under another order remanding him in custody in the fraudulent bankruptcy case (paragraph 67 above).

It is true that on 30th November 1966 the Linz Court of Appeal observed for its part that Ringeisen could gain nothing from a decision to release him in the fraudulent bankruptcy case because he was also detained in the other case (paragraph 73 above), but this only serves to confirm the interconnecting link which at all times subsisted between the two detentions (paragraph 108 above). Having held that the detention in the fraudulent bankruptcy case exceeded the reasonable time provided for in Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3) (paragraph 107 above), the Court considers that this finding applies to the whole of Ringeisen’s detention up to 20th March 1967, the date of his release.

III. AS TO THE QUESTION WHETHER THE DURATION OF THE CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST RINGEISEN EXCEEDED THE LIMITS OF A REASONABLE TIME AS LAID DOWN IN ARTICLE 6, PARAGRAPH (1) (art. 6-1)

110. The Court shares the Commission’s opinion that the length of the fraud proceedings - preliminary investigations were opened on 21st February 1963 and the final decision was taken on 24th April 1968 - resulted from both the complexity of the case and the innumerable requests and appeals made by Ringeisen not merely for his release, but also challenging most of the competent judges and for the transfer of the proceedings to different court areas.

This also applies, to a large extent, to the proceedings for fraudulent bankruptcy, at least as regards the investigation prior to the filing of the indictment on 24th March 1966. Even for the subsequent period, it is understandable that the public prosecutor thought it wise, by reason of the clear connection between the facts relevant in this case and the facts supporting the prosecution for fraud, to wait until there was a final conviction and sentence in the fraud case before withdrawing the prosecution in accordance with Article 34, paragraph 2, first sub-paragraph, of the Code of Criminal Procedure. This explains why the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings were allowed to stagnate.

The Court therefore reaches the conclusion that there was no violation of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1).

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT,

I. AS TO THE QUESTION WHETHER RINGEISEN WAS THE VICTIM OF A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 6, PARAGRAPH (1) (art. 6-1), IN THE PROCEEDINGS HE INTRODUCED TO OBTAIN APPROVAL OF A TRANSFER OF REAL PROPERTY CONSISTING OF FARMLAND
1. Holds unanimously that the Court has jurisdiction to examine the submission of non-exhaustion of domestic remedies made in this connection;

2. Holds by six votes to one that this submission is not well-founded;

3. Holds unanimously that Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), was applicable to the proceedings in question;

4. Holds unanimously that in the proceedings in question there has been no violation of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1);

II. AS TO THE QUESTION WHETHER THE DETENTION OF RINGEISEN EXCEEDED THE LIMITS OF A REASONABLE TIME IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 5, PARAGRAPH (3) (art. 5-3).

5. Holds by five votes to two that the detention of the applicant constituted a breach of Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), from 14th May 1965 to 14th January 1966;

6. Holds by four votes to three that likewise after 14th January 1966, and up to 20th March 1967, the detention was continued in breach of the same provision of the Convention;

7. Reserves for the Applicant the right, should the occasion arise, to apply for just satisfaction as regards these violations;

III. AS TO THE QUESTION WHETHER THE DURATION OF THE CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS AGAINST RINGEISEN EXCEEDED THE LIMITS OF A REASONABLE TIME AS LAID DOWN IN ARTICLE 6, PARAGRAPH (1) (art. 6-1)

8. Holds unanimously that in the proceedings in question there has been no violation of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1).

Done in French and English, the French text being authentic, at the Human Rights Building, Strasbourg, this sixteenth day of July one thousand nine hundred and seventy-one.

H. ROLIN
President

J.F. SMYTH
Deputy Registrar

on behalf of the Registrar

The following separate opinions are annexed to the present judgment in accordance with Article 51 (2) (art. 51-2) of the Convention and Rule 50 (2) of the Rules of Court:

- opinion of Judges Wold and Sigurjónsson;

- opinion of Judge Verdross;

- opinion of Judge Holmbäck;

- opinion of Judge Zekia.

H. R.

J. F. S.

JOINT SEPARATE OPINION OF JUDGES WOLD AND SIGURJÓNSSON

As to the jurisdiction (paragraph 84 of the judgment), Judges Wold and Sigurjónsson refer to their respective dissenting opinions in the De Wilde, Ooms and Versyp cases, but feel themselves obliged to defer to the opinion of the majority of the Court on this point.

SEPARATE OPINION OF JUDGE VERDROSS

(Translation)

I find to my regret that I do not agree with the Chamber’s judgment on two main points.

1. First, I am unable to accept the interpretation given in the judgment to Article 26 (art. 26) of the Convention for the following reasons:

According to the French text of Article 26 (art. 26), the Commission may only be "saisie" (seized of) after exhaustion of domestic remedies, while the English text provides that the Commission "may only deal with the matter after all domestic remedies have been exhausted". Faced with these two equally authentic texts, the Commission may not select the text which seems to it to be the most practical but must endeavour to find an interpretation which, having regard to the object and purpose of the treaty, best "reconciles" these texts (Article 33, paragraph 4, of the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties).

There is no doubt that the French term "saisir" has a clear and specific meaning while the English expression "deal with" has a wider meaning, because every act of an authority in regard to a case brought before it is to "deal with". This expression therefore also covers the registration of a case by the Commission; from this it clearly results that only the French version can be reconciled with the two texts.

This interpretation is even forced upon us by the fact that the verb "deal with" ("saisir") refers to the two clauses in Article 26 (art. 26), namely, the exhaustion of domestic remedies and the six-month time-limit. If then one were to accept the interpretation adopted by the Commission whereby the term "deal with" ("saisir") means "concern itself with an application" ("s’occuper d’une affaire") one would reach the absurd conclusion that the Commission could concern itself with a case only within the time of six months from the date of the final domestic decision.

My interpretation finds confirmation in the provision contained in Article 27, paragraph (3) (art. 27-3), which obliges the Commission to reject any petition contrary to Article 26 (art. 26). The Commission cannot, therefore, decide whether the conditions for the admissibility of an application are fulfilled ex nunc, that is at the time it begins to examine the case : the Commission must decide whether the application as such fulfilled ex tunc the conditions of Article 26 (art. 26).

Against this interpretation the Commission and the Chamber invoke the practice in international judicial precedents. It is true that Article 26 (art. 26) refers to "the generally recognised rules of international law". However, the reference in that Article is made within the framework of the special provisions of Article 26 (art. 26) and this can be done because the rules of general international law on the exhaustion of domestic remedies do not form part of the jus cogens. The special conditions of Article 26 (art. 26) therefore prevail over the general rules of international law. For this reason, it seems to me superfluous to undertake an analysis of international practice in the matter.

Nor is the interpretation given here to Article 26 (art. 26) upset by the purpose of this Article, for all the provisions which mark out the limits of an international body’s jurisdiction in the field in question are designed to protect the States from finding themselves arraigned at international level before they have had an opportunity to redress a violation which may possibly have been committed by an organ of lower rank. Consequently, every provision in this category must be interpreted strictly.

I am not unaware that it would perhaps be more appropriate to amend Article 26 (art. 26) in the way in which the Chamber has interpreted it, but the Commission and the Court must apply the Convention as it has been drafted by the High Contracting Parties. Like the International Court of Justice, "it is the duty" of our Court "to interpret the Treaties, not to revise them" (Advisory Opinion of July 18th, 1950 on the Interpretation of the Peace Treaties, 1950 Reports, p. 229).

2. Nor am I able to follow the Chamber when it declares that the detention of the Applicant, after his conviction on 14th January 1966 for fraud, was only a prolongation of the detention ordered in the fraudulent bankruptcy case. Admittedly, when opposing the request for release made by Ringeisen on 14th January 1966, the public prosecution pointed out that Ringeisen would gain nothing by being released in the fraud case because he was also being held in detention in the fraudulent bankruptcy case. The Linz Court of Appeal, however, which allowed the public prosecution’s appeal on 2nd March 1966, observed explicitly that the main reason to keep Ringeisen in detention was the fact that after the conviction for fraud there was an enhanced danger of his absconding as he could expect a heavy sentence.

It cannot in fact be contested that a danger of absconding may arise the moment a person who considers himself to be innocent and consequently is not thinking of flight finds himself faced with the new situation of an unexpected conviction. Even if one denies the existence of such a danger, one cannot ignore the fact that the Court of Appeal declared formally that it was maintaining the additional detention in the fraud case, although there was no need to maintain it for the purpose of preventing Ringeisen from absconding as he was also being held in detention in the fraudulent bankruptcy case. From this decision of the Court of Appeal onwards, the detention in the fraud case became predominant.

On 6th July and 30th November 1966, the Linz Court of Appeal, in dismissing further requests for release, held again that there was a danger of absconding which resulted especially from the severity of the sentence imposed for fraud. In the second of these decisions, the Court of Appeal added that Ringeisen would not gain any advantage by being released in the fraudulent bankruptcy case since he was also being held in detention in the fraud case in which he had been convicted and then sentenced, on 18th October 1966, to five years’ severe imprisonment.

Lastly, Ringeisen was released by decision of the Court of Appeal on 15th March 1967 for the reason that the circumstances concerning the dangers of flight and of his committing further offences in the fraud case had completely changed, while his detention in the fraudulent bankruptcy case was terminated only as a consequence of the first order for his release.

From what precedes it emerges clearly that, after the conviction and sentence on 14th January 1966 for fraud, Ringeisen’s detention was maintained above all by reason of the danger of absconding which resulted from the conviction and sentence and from the second sentence pronounced in the same case on 18th October 1966. Consequently, this detention was no longer governed by Article 5, paragraph (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c), but by Article 5, paragraph (1) (a) (art. 5-1-a), as the Court has acknowledged in the Wemhoff case and as the dissenting opinion of Judge Zekia makes abundantly clear in the present case.

These reasons are valid a fortiori in the present case where none of the conditions of Article 5, paragraph (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c), is fulfilled. In effect, Ringeisen did not appear in the appeal proceedings on the matter of his guilt and the Regional Court definitively found the facts and reached a verdict of guilt which was not in substance modified by the Supreme Court. One cannot, therefore, say that even after this verdict Ringeisen was merely suspected of having committed an offence within the meaning of Article 5, paragraph (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c).

SEPARATE OPINION OF JUDGE HOLMBÄCK

According to my opinion the Austrian authorities (the investigating judges, the Judges’ Chamber of the Regional Court of Linz, the President of that court, the Regional Court itself, the Linz Court of Appeal) had sufficient reasons to refuse the requests of Ringeisen to be released pending trial. Consequently, I could not join the majority of the European Court in its conclusion that the Republic of Austria violated Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), of the Convention.

SEPARATE OPINION OF JUDGE ZEKIA

The main issues involved in this case are two:

1. Whether Ringeisen was a victim of a violation of Article 6, paragraph (1) (art. 6-1), of the Convention in respect of

(a) the proceedings introduced by him with a view to securing the approval of the Austrian authorities for a transfer of farmland in his name;

(b) the length of time taken in the determination of the criminal charges brought against him;

2. Whether the periods of Ringeisen’s detention exceeded the reasonable time laid down in Article 5, paragraph (3) (art. 5-3), of the Convention.

For the factual aspect of the case I am content to refer to the judgment of the Court. For the issue No. 1, I respectfully associate myself with the views taken and conclusions arrived at by the Court.

As to the second issue, namely, whether Ringeisen was kept in detention pending his trial beyond a reasonable time, I feel unable to share the opinion of my learned colleagues constituting the majority of the Court. I proceed therefore to give, as briefly as possible, my reasons for doing so.

The time of the detention of Ringeisen can be divided into three periods:
1st period lasted from 5th August 1963 to 23rd December 1963;

2nd period lasted from 15th March 1965 to 14th January 1966 – the latter date being the date of his conviction;

3rd period lasted from 14th January 1966 (date of his conviction) to 20th March 1967 (date of his release).

If, in considering the alleged violation of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3), I could properly put together the three periods of detention given above, I would not have any difficulty in joining the majority and finding a contravention on the part of the Republic of Austria of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) of the Convention. In my view, however, we are not entitled to take into account, for the purpose of assessing the reasonableness of the length of the detention under Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3), the period of Ringeisen’s detention after his conviction. Such detention having been effected or continued following the conviction cannot be considered on the same footing as a detention under Article 5 (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c) with which Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) is solely concerned. On the other hand, we cannot assume that a detention ordered under Article 5 (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c), even if not expressly revoked, can continue to be reckoned as detention for the purpose of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) after the person detained is convicted by a competent court. Moreover, a person kept in detention consequent upon conviction cannot complain of deprivation of liberty under Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) which applies only to persons in custody awaiting their trial. In this connection, I can usefully refer to paragraph 9 at page 23 in the Wemhoff judgment (27th June 1968).

Accepting the suspensive effect of an appeal and a plea of nullity entered by a convicted person against the conviction and the sentence of imprisonment - and this might be the case in certain systems of law prevailing on the Continent - I am yet far from being persuaded that a period of detention after conviction falls within the ambit of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3).

The fundamental principle underlying Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) in my view is what is contained in Article 6 (2) (art. 6-2) which reads "Everyone charged with a criminal offence shall be presumed innocent until proved guilty according to law".

Article 5 (1) (a) (art. 5-1-a) expressly provides that a person may properly be deprived of his liberty after conviction by a competent court. From what is quoted it can safely be deduced that the presumption of innocence, after conviction by a competent court, is replaced by a presumption of guilt. The presumption of guilt is only a rebuttable one; it becomes final and conclusive after the decision of an appellate court or by lapse of the time allowed for appeal if no appeal is lodged against such conviction.

Furthermore, I would like to say a few words on the character of the detention of the applicant after his conviction on 14th January 1966.

It has been argued that Ringeisen was not detained after 14th January 1966 on the strength of his conviction but only by virtue of an order of detention issued against him on 15th March 1965 – on fraudulent bankruptcy charges - which in reality continued to be in force even after the date of conviction and up to the time he was released from detention in that case. From this it might be inferred that the continued detention after the date of conviction cannot be considered as one under Article 5 (1) (a) (art. 5-1-a). Bearing in mind the suspensive effect of the applicant entering an appeal and plea of nullity and of what has been stated on that occasion before the court by the counsel for the prosecution, this view carries a certain amount of weight. But against this one might advance the following points. For the purpose of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) the kind of detention we are concerned with is the one effected under Article 5 (1) (c) (art. 5-1-c). Therefore in order to rule on the relevancy of the post conviction period of detention for Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3), we must be able to say that the detention of the applicant during such period did not lose its previous character. I very much doubt this line of reasoning and I am inclined rather to the opposite view on this point.

The conviction of January 1966 ordering the imprisonment of Ringeisen was there without being set aside by any judicial authority and, indeed, the conviction for fraud on the 78 purchasers was upheld by the Supreme Court and the reassessment of sentence, together with other matters, was referred back to the trial court. Apart from this, as early as 12th May 1965 the Linz Regional Court had ordered the detention of Ringeisen in the fraud case. While the fraudulent bankruptcy proceedings may not have been substantiated by evidence and were in fact later withdrawn, the main charge of fraud, however, ended with a conviction which was upheld by the appellate court.

The utmost one might say is that the exact reason or reasons for the detention of the Applicant after his conviction is or are not clear. But if one can reasonably attribute more than one reason for such detention and if there is only one valid reason justifying the continuation of the detention, that is enough to take the third period out of consideration under Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3).

One must not lose sight of the fact that the predominant object of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) is to guard against keeping a person in custody beyond such time as is reasonably required to prepare his case and bring him before the court for a judicial decision. In other words, the aim is not to keep suspects in detention in the absence of adequate evidence and not to punish them only on the ground of suspicion. After the hearing of evidence and the conviction by the competent court in January 1966, it is very difficult to accept that there is room for the operation of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3).

For these reasons, I am of the opinion that the period of detention of Ringeisen as from 14th January 1966 to 20th March 1967 cannot be added to the other periods of detention in considering the alleged violation of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3).

I come now to the remaining two periods.

The first period of detention lasted only four months and eighteen days. Taken by itself this period is not unreasonably long for investigating a great number of frauds allegedly committed by the Applicant.

Can we consider periods 1 and 2 conjointly? I do not think we can properly do this either. The alleged commission of frauds involving not less than 78 purchasers and a number of fraudulent conversions preceded the fraudulent bankruptcy charges, the investigation of which started much later.

Similar offences committed within a short period of time might reasonably be expected to be dealt with together by investigating authorities. A suspected person in custody might claim protection under Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) for the whole lot at one time. But when distinct offences are committed much later or are discovered much later and the same suspect rearrested and kept in custody for a subsequent group of offences, fresh investigations start and a new period of detention begins to run. In such a case, investigating authorities are amply justified in seeking to exclude from consideration earlier periods of detention under Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3).

Proximity of time and place is an important factor in this respect. In such cases, different periods of detention should be considered separately, but not conjointly, even if the latter group of offences are in some way or other related to the former.

It remains for me now to consider whether the second period of detention taken alone amounts to a violation of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3). I am not convinced that in the circumstances of the case there is a violation.

The second period of detention lasted ten months. The authorities, including the investigating judges, had to examine multiple offences alleged to have been committed by Ringeisen. The Applicant uninterruptedly flooded the courts and other authorities with all sorts of applications and appeals, alleging bias on the part of the judges and other authorities, challenging the integrity of the judges and attacking the composition of the courts. His complaints turned out to be entirely untenable and unfounded. In other words, he was all the time abusing the process of the court with the result of prolonging unnecessarily the proceedings in the investigation and of delaying the completion of his case by preventing it from being brought before the court for trial. The conduct of the complainant evidently contributed to a great extent to the length of his detention. In the circumstances I do not think that violation of Article 5 (3) (art. 5-3) by the Austrian authorities has been established.
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